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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of
Sanbase Corporation Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NG

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kin Kei (Chief Operating Officer)

Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo (appointed on 11 March 2020)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Cheung Ting Pong (resigned on 22 October 2019)
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Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.P. (resigned on 1 January 2020)
Mr. Wu Kam On, Keith

(re-designated as a member on 21 January 2020

and resigned on 2 February 2020)
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Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 January 2020)
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman) (appointed on 8 January 2020)
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (appointed on 21 January 2020)
Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson (appointed on 21 January 2020)
Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.P. (resigned on 1 January 2020)
Mr. Wu Kam On, Keith (resigned on 2 February 2020)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHRE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Sanbase Corporation Limited (the “Company”),
| present you the audited consolidated results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2020.

In the past year, the business environment in Hong Kong was
challenging, the pressure of the global economic recession has
increased, and demand for Grade A commercial buildings has
weakened. According to statistics from Jones Lang LaSalle, the
vacancy rate of Grade A office buildings in Hong Kong raised
from 4.8% at the end of April 2019 to 7.2% at the end of April
2020. This trend will inevitably affect the demand for fit-out
solutions of Grade A commercial buildings. However, even if the
corporates move out from the Grade A commercial building,
they still need to engage the fit-out solution provider to carry
out reinstatement works to restore the original appearance of
the office unit. On the other hand, the corporates that decide
to renew the lease of Grade A commercial buildings also
need to enhance space utilization and reduce costs through
restacking services. In the long run, Grade A commercial
buildings with good facilities in general. As the occupancy rate
drops, the rental expenses will be reduced accordingly. This
may attract the corporates which originally rented Grade B
commercial buildings or Grade A commercial buildings that is
outside central business districts to move in and is expected to
stimulate the need for bare shell fit-out services. Nevertheless,
revenue and gross profit margin of bare shell fit-out is expected
to be decreased in coming year.

The Directors has strived to maintain a steady performance
of the Group’s business even in more challenging of last year.
Revenue slightly decreased 1.9% year-on-year to $638.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020. There were 177 projects
awarded in 2019 decreased to 138 projects during the year. In
January 2020, the Group has been awarded a bare shell fit-out
project of phase one by a statutory institution in Hong Kong,
for a total contract sum of HKD24.8 million. In April 2020, the
Group has been awarded a bare shell fit-out project of phase
two by the same statutory institution, for a total contract sum
of HKD99.2 million. The said results reflected that the Group’s
quality of construction being well recognised by the market and
customers are also willing to award the Group of larger scale of
projects for management and execution and then enable us to
maintain relative stable revenue during the economic downturn.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHRE

We have explored and expanded business to overseas market
since the listing. The Group’s business has expanded to China
market through the acquisition in China. The Group continues
to achieve satisfactory performance in China market through
continuous integration and improvement of daily operations. The
revenue of the subsidiary in Guangzhou was HKD44.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020, representing an increase
of 88.5%. The gross profit of such subsidiary increased from
HKD1.3 million of last year to HKD11.6 million for current year.

The Group also had its first ever collaboration with
subcontractor in a commercial and residential building project
in Cambodia last year, the quality of construction being well
recognised by the local developers. The accomplishments both
in China and Cambodia demonstrated that the Group has the
ability to replicate Hong Kong’s business model to new markets
and further expand our business footprint.

Since 2020, the global economy is affected unprecedently by
the COVID-19 pandemic. It is still unknown when the COVID-19
will come to an end. Although the Group inevitably be affected
during the period, the Group is proved to be a corporate
which able to maintain a sustainable development since its
listing. The business development pace is slightly slow down
in the outbreak of the COVID-19 as the management have a
room to think about the future development. Looking forward,
we will continue to solidify our market leader as an interior
fit-out solutions provider. Meanwhile, we will explore other
business development such as property management and
financing on real estate and identify potential targets with the
aim of providing services to tenants, landlords and property
developers.

Lastly, | wish to take this opportunity to thank my colleagues
and all staff for your valuable suggestion and dedication,
and to thank our business partners, shareholders and
stakeholder for your trust and patience. The Group will strive
to overcome future challenges and commit to offer high-quality
fit-out services to the industry as well as deliver greater and
sustainable returns to our shareholders.

Chairman of the Board
WONG Sai Chuen

Hong Kong, 18 June 2020
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
BBEE

Audited
RER Change in
Year ended 31 March percentage
HZEZ3H31BILEE ERzlsd
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FETT
Revenue WA 638,030 650,455 -1.9%
Gross profit E A 65,068 70,847 -8.2%
Gross profit margin EFE 10.2% 10.9%
Profit before income tax B 7 AT i A 28,062 37,394 -25.0%
Profit attributable to owners of the FiN/NESTE RN b
Company 16,224 28,116 -42.3%
HK cents HK cents
B JEN
Basic and diluted earnings per share 5 % 5 7 } # % 2 7| 8.20 14.10
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWKR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an interior fit-out solutions provider focusing on
providing services to clients whose offices are predominately
situated in Grade A offices in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). Our role in these fit-out projects
entails the overall project management, coordination and
implementation of fit-out projects by engaging subcontractors
from different trades for their services and labour, providing
expertise such as controlling the quality aspects of the projects
and carrying out corresponding project management.

Our projects can be broadly categorised into (i) bare shell fit-out
which is undertaken in the interior space of a vacant premise
having basic flooring and plastered walls; (ii) restacking which
involve upgrading and re-planning and providing modification
work to the existing interior structure of the premise; (iii)
reinstatement which involves demolishing any additional
moveable structure that were installed by the existing tenant;
(iv) design; (v) churn works; and (vi) maintenance and others
which involve providing minor repairs and general builder’s
maintenance work to the tenant’s office facilities, pest control
and emergency call services, project management services
and mechanical, electrical and plumbing (“MEP”) consultancy
services.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a
decrease in revenue of 1.9% to HKD638.0 million from 650.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2019. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue from the business
of bare shell fit-out and reinstatement. The Group’s gross profit
decreased to HKD65.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2020 from HKD70.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019,
representing a decrease of 8.1%.

The Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company
decreased by 42.3% to HKD16.2 million for the current year
from HKD28.1 million for the corresponding period of last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from (i) bare
shell fit-out; (ii) restacking; (iii) reinstatement; (iv) design; (v)
churn works; and (vi) maintenance and others. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s revenue decreased
by 1.9% to HKD638.0 million as compared with HKD650.5
million of last year. The decrease is mainly attributable to the
decrease in revenue from the provisions of bare shell fit-out and
reinstatement services.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s
revenue by project types for the year ended 31 March 2020
and 2019:

B 7% [ R

KA

AEEMNBRAETZRE()ELERE: () 2L (i) B
B(v)Ret: vEBRIRE: RV)RSREM REE
20203 H31H IEFE - A& B R U A B X F #9650.5
BEATEA1.9% E6380E BB T LRI TER
HARREEAEEERERRBHRARD

T RS A EBE 20205 M2019F3A31H ILFEE
RIEBBBEAE SR UARRMA :

Year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MBLEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 % HKD’000 %
FET FAET

Project type HEER
Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE 542,037 85.0 557,268 85.7
Restacking = 58,506 9.1 37,598 5.8
Reinstatement EIR 16,650 2.6 34,651 [5)56)
Design R 5,531 0.9 9,563 1.5
Churn works ST 13,836 2.2 9,587 1.5
Maintenance and others RENREAM 1,470 0.2 1,788 0.2
Total et 638,030 100.0 650,455 100.0

As shown in above table, our bare shell fit-out contributed to
85.0% and 85.7% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 respectively. Revenue from
bare shell fit-out decreased to HKD542.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 from HKD557.3 million for the last year,
representing a decrease of 2.7%.

From 1 April 2019 and up to the date of this annual report, we
were newly awarded a total of 52 bare shell fit-out projects with
a total project sum of HKD567.8 million.

W ERFTR B E2020F K2019F3H31H EF E -
BMNELEEREZERAOWAD B AER LRI A
#185.0% K85.7% - EAXA B R mE L WA B E=FH
557.3B & BT L2.7% 2 & £2020F3A31H [+ F
JEH542.08 85T -

H2019F4A1HREZEAGFEREBEH R LES
S2EFMEALRERETEE - HE L AS67.8 88
7T|:o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of sales and Direct margin

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised subcontracting
charges and staff costs. The decrease in cost of sales from
HKD579.6 million for the last year to HKD573.0 million for the
current year, representing a decrease of 1.1%.

Defined as revenue less subcontracting costs, cleaning
expenses, insurance expenses and security expenses, direct
margin of the Group indicates the overall project profitability
before taking into account of other fixed costs. The following
table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s direct margin by
project types for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019:

Bt EBE (&)

HERAREZFNE
AEENHERATIEREIBERRE TRA -5
ERAREFENSTICABBETHI11% EAFEEN
573.0B&B T

AEBEEMBEEABBRARSBRA-BRER -
FRATKRREZEAST IR REME TR AHEE
HERBAEBER - TREY A& B H E2020%F K2019F
SABIRILFERBEEEAS SN EEFHPE:

Year ended 31 March
BZ3AIBLEE

2020 2019
20204 20194

% of % of
HKD’000 revenue HKD’000 revenue
FET LKA E FEIL KA B D

Project type HEER
Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE 79,757 14.7 73,742 13.2
Restacking Ep 2,807 4.8 6,892 18.3
Reinstatement 2R 867 5.2 4,943 14.3
Design B 4,798 86.7 8,242 86.2
Churn works THETE 4,359 31.5 1,659 17.3
Maintenance and others REREM 164 11.2 479 26.8
Total st 92,752 14.5 95,957 14.8

The Group’s overall direct margin decreased to HKD92.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020 from HKD96.0 million for
the last year. Such decrease in the direct margin was primarily
attributable to the increase of direct margin for base shell fit-out
to HKD79.8 million offset by the decrease of direct margin
for restacking, reinstatement and design for the year ended
31 March 2020. The increase in direct margin for bare shell
fit-out was mainly driven by the larger scale of projects awarded
during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

FINANCE REVIEW (continued)

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses amounted to HKD32.7
million for the current year, representing an increase of HKD2.9
million or 9.7% as compared to that of HKD29.8 million for
the last year. Such increase was primarily attributable to (i) an
increase of HKD1.7 million in staff costs due to the general pay
rise; and (i) an increase of HKDO.7 million in total for travelling,
entertainment and IT expenses, etc.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense of the Group for the current year was
HKD®6.3 million, remaining stable as compared to HKD7.1million
for the last year.

Profit for the year
Profit for the Group decreased to HKD21.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 from HKD30.3million for the last year.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
HKD16.2 million for the current year, representing a decrease of
HKD11.9 million, as compared with HKD28.1 million for the last
year.

Dividend
The Board do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK3.1 cents per share).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
GEARING RATIO AND CAPITAL

STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group financed its
operation by its internal resources and granted bank facility.
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had net current assets of
HKD128.2 million (31 March 2019: HKD114.4 million), including
cash and cash equivalents balances of HKD120.3 million
(31 March 2019: HKD106.0 million) mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWKR DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
GEARING RATIO AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE (Continued)

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was 1.6 times as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019:
1.5 times). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2020
was Nil (31 March 2019: 9.4%). The gearing ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total equity as at the respective period
end.

There has been no change in capital structure of the Company
as at 31 March 2020. The equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HKD141.8 million as at 31 March 2020
(81 March 2019: HKD131.9 million).

The Group does not have any exposure to fluctuations in
exchange rates and any related hedges.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group had not pledged
any assets to secure bank facilities or finance lease obligation.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had capital commitment in
respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary contracted for but not
recognised as liabilities amounts to HKD1,275,000 (31 March
2019: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group did not have
any significant investment, material acquisition or disposal.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group provided guarantees of surety
bonds of HKD7.1 million (31 March 2019: HKD8.8 million) in
respect of 4 (31 March 2019: 3) construction contract(s) of the
Group in its ordinary course of business. The surety bonds are
expected to be released in accordance with the terms of the
respective construction contracts.

] 2 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

Details of business objectives are set out in the section headed
“Business — Business Strategies” of the prospectus dated

18 December 2017 of the Company (the “Prospectus”).

Business objectives

XBER

Business objectives
as stated in the Prospectus

BREFMMEXBE R

REEERERXBEELR

¥ A EHBEIHN AR E HEA2017FE1218H A
RE([BRE]) B —%£5REE] —f-

Actual business progress up
to 31 March 2020
B E2020F3A3IACERERKERE

Further strengthen our market
leading position in the fit-out industry
in Hong Kong

E— P EERMERTBERETENT
15 AL

e By taking on more and larger-size
projects in the Grade A office
premises.

s FEMABETFZHRARENTR
BFEETFIER-

The Group has been pitching for
projects continuously. The Group
was awarded (i) three bare shell
fit-out projects with a contract sum
of HKD38.1 million, HKD83.8 million,
HKD44.8 million; (ii) a bare shell
fit-out project with a contract sum of
HKD95.8 million; and (iii) a bare shell
fit-out project with a contract sum of
HKD53.4 million as disclosed in the
announcements dated 27 July 2018,
20 September 2018 and 14 January
2019, respectively.
AEBE-—EFBEHIFEER -HWBH
o Al &2018F7 H27H - 20189 H20
HK2019F1A14B MR EFME R -
AEEERT(HEHNSERIBIEE
BT -83.8E BB 448 BB TH
SHAELRFEREEB: (IEHNTRA
95.8ABE LM EREEIEEAR ¢ K i)
BREHER/NBIABEB TN ERFE
BIER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWKR DN

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

(Continued)

Business objectives

XEER

Business objectives
as stated in the Prospectus

BREPAMZEER T

EXBEEHREBREKREELR (2

Actual business progress up
to 31 March 2020
BZE202053A31A v ERERKEE

Expand our project management and
client care teams

BARMMIAR BELEP RS E K

e By recruiting additional manpower
with project management
experience to form a designated
client servicing team which serves
as a direct and regular liaison
point for our new and recurring
clients;

e HMHUHEAEBEELRNEINA
h RI—BEEFREEK
AERMFETFPNEET BB
AR

e By expanding our project and
construction management
teams to enhance our execution
capabilities in light of our
upcoming project pipeline;

e ERAKIRMIEEEBEIR
BErEAREREEBEK  NUIE
= BB 1T RS

e By recruiting additional project
managers, site supervisors, site
managers, quantity surveyors and
MEP specialists to expand our
project execution capacity; and

e HMEEZWEAKE IREEE-
AREE AS  THRB 2 A0 & #
W BN REBERURESER
MiTEE T &

e By recruiting extra experienced
safety and quality control
consultants.

e MEFKBR LT RmEEHlE
f] o
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The Group has recruited thirty nine
employees in their capacity as project
manager, project supervisor, project
coordinator, project executive, site
manager, site supervisor, registered
safety supervisor, registered safety
officer, quantity surveyor and
surveying officer.
REBEHEEIORESETIRE K2
BHEXE HEME HEPE R
EE - uwEEE FMe2EE M
Z2EBE THASMIINAE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

(Continued)

Business objectives

EBER

Business objectives
as stated in the Prospectus

EXBEEHREBREKREELR (2

Actual business progress up
to 31 March 2020
BZE202053A31A v ERERERE

Continue to enhance our project
implementation system and develop
new management system and
technology
BENERMNEEEBRRS L
BRI E IR RS R

Pursue suitable acquisition,
partnership and investment
opportunities

FREGHRE AEREKS

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the listing of the Shares, after deducting
the underwriting commission and related expenses, were
HKD56.9 million (the “Net Proceeds”). As at 31 March 2020
and the date of this annual report, the unutilised Net Proceeds

BRERM2EHKE R
e By improving our existing

standardised project
management and execution
system to enhance its usability
and intuitiveness.

s NEBMBEAERENLBEREERER
BITERSG UReETAERE
B

By selectively invest in or enter into
strategic partnerships with other
industry players, such as other peer
interior fit-out solution providers in
the Grade A office market, to further
broaden our collective expertise and
resources.
BEMREREAEMITELESE (I
RREFEmsPNEMEITEANE
BRADTERHER) BLRBS XA
R E—FTHERMOEBERKE
IR e

Bt £ AR

of the Group amounted to HKD3.3 million and HKD3.3 million

respectively.

The Group terminated the development
of the project management and
execution system.

AEEERIIFAZEREEERBITR

The acquisition of Core Group Holding
Limited (“Core Group”) and Siwu
Architectural (Guangzhou) Limited
(“GZ Siwu”) have been completed
on 12 April 2018 and 8 May 2018
respectively.

I B& Core Group Holding Limited
([Core Group |) M EMHT A iEHER
HEERAA(IBEMNEE])E D BR
20184 A128 Kk2018F5A8A =M °

FERAEZEE
BRFEENMKREHEMAS RIEBERE
B56.9B BB ([FIEBRFHE]) - H2020F3A31H
RAFHRBE AEERABAMBIFES B A3.3
BEBTMIIABB T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWNRDN

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS (continued)

Having considered the current business needs of the Company,
the Board resolved to reallocate the unutilised Net Proceeds in

the following manner:

Proposed use of Net Proceeds

(i) For project execution and
start-up costs for projects

(ii) For recruiting high calibre and
experienced managers and
supervisors for the expansion of
our project teams and renting
additional office space

(iii) For revamping our project
management and execution system

(iv) For implementation of enterprise
resources planning system

(v) For additional working capital and
other general corporate purpose

Total

FERFECESAR

() RIEEE BB RE RETT
KA

i) BIEEEERERAR
LEMERABRBEAR
DEZERENSRE &
BEBMIATR

(i) BRBEEA ERRATES

(v) BEERLFERAEZR

v BIEBNEERS R
—RE%RR

Intended use
of the Net

FMEBRARZEE (&)
REERANFBBEBEER ESRHRUTH IR
= 3 5 B ok 8 FB #0 R

Norgsr

BROFR

Intended use  Proceeds as Actual use of Unutilised

of the Net  stated in the  Actual use of Net Proceeds  Net Proceeds
Proceeds as Prospectus up  Net Proceeds Unutilised Net up to the up to the  Re-allocation
stated in the to 31 March up to 31 March Proceeds up to date of this date of this  of unutilised
Prospectus 2020 2020 31 March 2020  annual report  annual report  Net Proceeds

EZ2020%
3A3IAL  EZE2020%F  HZ2020F BELRER

FeREE FeREE 3AAL 3AS1AL RELFE BERER BEHNAR
REREML RARE FERFE HRBAZ REE BHLMABA HRBAZ
ZRERE ZRERSE ZERAR FERFE ZBRAE ZFEREFE FBREE
(HKD milion) ~ (HKD million) ~ (HKD million) — (HKD milion) ~ (HKD million) ~ (HKD million) ~ (HKD million)
(BE%T) (BE%T) (BE%T) (BE%7T) (BE%T) (BE%71) (BE%T)
34.2 34.2 34.2 - 34.2 - -
1.4 7.7 7.7 - 7.7 - 3.3
4.0 4.0 0.7 33 0.7 33 (3.9)
1.7 1.7 1.7 - 1.7 - -
5.6 4.6 4.6 - 4.6 - -
56.9 52.2 48.9 33 48.9 3.3 -

The business objectives, future plans and intended use of the
proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best
estimation and assumption of future market conditions made
by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus while the
proceeds were applied based on the actual development of the
Group’s business and its industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS (continued)
Reasons for and benefits of the change in use of
proceeds

The Company had planned to use HKD4.0 million of the
Net Proceeds for revamping our project management and
execution system to enhance its operational efficiency, and
HKDO.7 million had been utilised for such purpose. During
the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group failed to reach an
agreement with the vendor in relation to the transfer of patent
rights of the conceptual framework of the project management
and executive system (the “Management System”) for the
Group’s operational use. As at the date of this annual report,
the Company has yet to identify any suitable alternate service
providers to resume the design and implementation of the
Management System upon research.

Meanwhile, one of our wholly owned subsidiaries requires
more high calibre and experienced managers and supervisors
to provide a stronger support for the execution of projects
awarded. As such, on 18 June 2020, based on the interest
of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole, the Board
resolved to reallocate HKD3.3 million of the unutilised Net
Proceeds, which were originally allocated for revamping our
project management and execution system, to supplement
for recruiting high calibre and experienced managers and
supervisors for the expansion of our project teams and
renting additional office space. The Board is of the view that
such reallocation of unutilised Net Proceeds will strengthen
the efficiency and effectiveness of the capital use, the use
of proceeds is appropriately reallocated to better meet the
current business needs of the Company, which also enables the
Company to invest its financial sources in a more beneficial and
effective way so as to cooperate in the future development of
the Company and grasp the potential business opportunities in
the future.

The Board considers that the development direction of the
Company is still in line with the disclosure in the Prospectus in
spite of such change in use of Net Proceeds as stated above.
The aforesaid change in the use of Net Proceeds will not
adversely affect the operation and business of the Group and is
in the interest of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.
Save for the aforesaid changes, there is no other change to the
use of the Net Proceeds.

FMEBRAEZEE (&)
MERAESENREERES

AARBFEBAMGIFHIOEE S L AUNE
BRMOEEEERRTESR KhmiesHEBERE-
WEFRENEAT0.78 BB - RE £202093A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBNWKR DN

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of 94 (31 March
2019: 80) employees. To ensure that the Group is able to attract
and retain staff capable of attaining the best performance
levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on a regular basis.
In addition, discretionary bonus is offered to eligible employees
by reference to the Group’s results and individual performance.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 1 June 2020, the acquisition of Yu Rong Capital Limited
(the “Target”) has been completed. Immediately after the
completion of acquisition, the Target has become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial
results will be consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. For details, please refer the
announcement of the Company dated 14 February 2020 and
1 June 2020 respectively.

OUTLOOK

The COVID-19 pandemic is inflicting high and rising human
costs worldwide. Protecting lives and allowing health care
systems to cope have required isolation, lockdowns, and
widespread closures to slow the spread of the virus. The health
crisis is therefore having a severe impact on economic activity.
As a result of the pandemic, the global economy is projected
by the International Monetary Fund to contract sharply by -3%
in 2020, much worse than during the 2008-09 financial crisis.

There is extreme uncertainty around the global growth forecast.
The economic fallout depends on factors that interact in ways
that are hard to predict, including the pathway of the pandemic,
the intensity and efficacy of containment efforts, the extent of
supply disruptions, the repercussions of the dramatic tightening
in global financial market conditions, shifts in spending patterns,
behavioural changes (such as people avoiding shopping malls
and public transportation), confidence effects, and volatile
commodity prices. Many countries face a multi-layered crisis
comprising a health shock, domestic economic disruptions,
plummeting external demand, capital flow reversals, and a
collapse in commodity prices. Risks of a worse outcome
predominate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEREBNWKR DN

It is expected that year 2020 will be an even more challenging
year ahead. While the Directors are committed to enhance
the financial performance of the Group in 2020, it needs
to stay vigilant and continuously monitor the changes in
the macro-economy, include but not limit to, the impact on
the economy brought by COVID-19, US president election,
China-US trade frictions, trade negotiation between UK and
European Union (‘EU”), power distribution in EU after Brexit,
and global climate change, fluctuation on financial market and
shrinking market demands as well as government policies
addressing those risks, and their effects on the valuation
of different classes of assets so as to adjust business or
investment plan accordingly.

Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to focus on our
core business with an insightful business strategy, stable and
conservative financial position in order to strives to reward the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

BE2020F R ER A MREN —F - BEEFMH
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEBEEHE

Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong”), aged 45, is the
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director
of the Company. He founded the Group in 2009 and was
appointed as a Director on 24 March 2017. Pursuant to the
director’s service agreement made between Mr. Wong and the
Company with an initial term of three years commencing from
4 January 2018. He is responsible for the strategic planning,
business development, daily operations and major decision
making of the Group. Mr. Wong is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong has over 10 years of experience in the interior fit-out
industry. He is also the director of the 53rd Term Board of
Directors of the Yan Chai Hospital. Mr. Wong is the spouse
of Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, an executive Director of the
Company.

Mr. WONG Kin Kei, aged 43, is the Chief Operating Officer
and an executive Director of the Company. He joined the Group
in April 2010 and was appointed as a Director on 24 March
2017. Pursuant to the director’'s service agreement made
between Mr. Wong Kin Kei and the Company with an initial
term of three years commencing from 4 January 2018. He is
responsible for business development, daily operations, and
technical and project management. Mr. Wong Kin Kei is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kin Kei has about 20 years of experience in the
fit-out industry. Mr. Wong Kin Kei obtained a higher diploma in
building services engineering from the City University of Hong
Kong in November 1999. He then obtained a bachelor’s degree
in engineering from the University of Central Lancashire by
distance learning in January 2007. He has also obtained the
postgraduate diploma in building services engineering from
Heriot-Watt University by distance learning in June 2013.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEBEEHE

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. HUI Man Yee, Maggie (“Ms. Hui”), aged 43, is an
executive Director of the Company. She joined the Group in
April 2015 and was appointed as a Director on 6 July 2017.
Pursuant to the director’'s service agreement made between
Ms. Hui and the Company with an initial term of three years
commencing from 4 January 2018. She is responsible for
daily operations, business development, human resources and
administrative management of the Group. Ms. Hui is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Hui has over 10 years of
experience in the hotel industry. Ms. Hui graduated from
Sheffield Hallam University in the United Kingdom with a
bachelor’s degree of science in hotel and tourism management
in June 1998. She then obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from University of Birmingham in the
United Kingdom in December 2011. Ms. Hui is the spouse
of Mr. Wong, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an
executive Director of the Company.

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo (“Dr. Sung”), aged 59, is an executive
Director, company secretary and a compliance officer of the
Company. He joined the Group in September 2019 and was
appointed as an executive Director on 11 March 2020. Pursuant
to the director’s service agreement made between Dr. Sung
and the Company with an initial term of one year commencing
from 11 March 2020. He is responsible for daily operations,
business development, public relations and company secretarial
matter of the Group. Dr. Sung is also a director of a subsidiary
of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Sung served as an executive
director, chief executive officer, joint company secretary and
authorised representative of New Western Group Limited
(“New Western”) (formerly known as Megalogic Technology
Holdings Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8242), from March 2014 to May 2019
and was responsible for accounting and finance management,
and business development as well as company secretarial
matter. From September 2004 to February 2014, Dr. Sung
served as the managing director and a responsible officer of
King’s HT Securities Limited (now known as Tensant Securities
Limited), a licensed corporation under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”), Dr. Sung has over 15 years experience in the financial
and securities industry. Before entering into the financial and
securities industry, Dr. Sung has worked for several solicitors’
firms in Hong Kong for about 17 years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Sung obtained a bachelor’'s degree of Commerce
in Management and Marketing from Curtin University of
Technology in Australia in February 2002 and also obtained
a master’s degree of Accountancy from Lingnan University in
November 2012. Dr. Sung has been awarded the distinction of
an honorary doctor in Business Administration from American
Purlinton University in January 2013. Dr. Sung is an associate
member of the Association of International Accountants, a
fellow of the Institute of Public Accountants of the Australia,
a fellow of the Institute of Financial Accountants of the United
Kingdom, an international affiliate of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow of the Institute of the
Certified Management Accountants of the Australia.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 52, is an
independent non-executive Director of the Company. He joined
the Group as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 21 January 2020. Pursuant to the appointment letter made
between Mr. Cheung and the Company with an initial term of
one year commencing from 21 January 2020. Mr. Cheung has
over 20 years of experience in financial management, treasury
and company secretarial matters.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Prosper Construction Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6816), since August 2017. From April 2015 to June 2020,
Mr. Cheung served as an independent non-executive director of
New Western.

Mr. Cheung holds a master’'s degree in commerce from The
University of New South Wales, Australia and a bachelor’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Imperial College,
London, the United Kingdom. He is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson (“Mr. Chan”), aged 48, is an
independent non-executive Director of the Company. He joined
the Group as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 21 January 2020. Pursuant to the appointment letter made
between Mr. Chan and the Company with an initial term of one
year commencing from 21 January 2020. Mr. Chan has over
20 years of experience in accounting, auditing and taxation
matters.

Since June 2018, Mr. Chan has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of eBroker Group Limited,
a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8036).

Mr. Chan is a fellow member and CPA (Practising) of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
In November 2004, Mr. Chan obtained a master’'s degree in
corporate finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and a bachelor of laws degree from the City University of Hong
Kong in October 2014.

Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny (“Mr. Pang”), aged 47, is an
independent non-executive Director of the Company. He joined
the Group as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 8 December 2017. Pursuant to the appointment letter
made between Mr. Pang and the Company with an initial term
of three year commencing from 4 January 2018.

Mr. Pang, currently is a partner of F. Zimmern & Co. (in
association with Grandall Legal Group (Hong Kong). He
continues to serve as the sole proprietor of Benny Pang & Co.
He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Janco Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8035) with effect from 27 September
2019. He continues to serve as a non-executive director of
Huabang Financial Holdings Limited and an independent
non-executive director of Yuanda China Holdings Limited, both
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3638 and 2789, respectively).

Mr. Pang obtained a bachelor degree in laws (honors) from
Bond University, Australia, in 1996. He obtained his master
degree in laws from The University of New South Wales,
Australia in October 1997 and his graduate diploma in legal
practice from The College of Law, Sydney in Australia in
November 1997. He has been admitted as a legal practitioner
of the Supreme Court of New South Wales, Australia since
1997 and as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong since
2009. He is a member of each of the Law Society of New
South Wales, Australia and the Law Society of Hong Kong.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in provision of interior fit-out
solutions in Hong Kong and the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in the note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and an indication of likely future
developments of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020, as required by Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong (the “Companies
Ordinance”), are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 6
and pages 8 to 19 respectively of this annual report. Such
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the business. The Board is aware that
the Group is exposed to various risks and the principal risks
and uncertainties are summarized below:

° We depend on our subcontractors to carry out various
trades of work and bear the risks associated with
fluctuations in subcontracting costs, substandard
performance and instability of their operations;

° The Group’s business is project-based. Fee collection and
profit margin depend on the terms of the work contract
and may not be regular;
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

° Most of the revenue is derived from contracts awarded
through competitive tendering and the contracts are
non-recurring in nature. The Group’s business depends on
its success on project tenders;

° We determine the tender price based on our estimation of
the time and costs involved, which may not be accurate;
and

° Our liquidity and financial position may be adversely
affected if we cannot receive progress payments or
retention money in full in time or at all.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to minimizing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve
a balance between the quality and efficiency of our services
and the minimization of greenhouse gas emissions and
environmental degradation. Accordingly, the Group promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees
and has taken a proactive approach to effect internal and
external communications by means of telephone, emails and
conferences or such other communication means which are
efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the Group are able to
minimize physical travelling and printing.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important
assets and stakeholder of the Group, their contribution
and support are valuable to the Group at all times. The
Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits policies
accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Other fringe benefits, which include
but not limited to discretionary bonus, are provided to retain
loyal employees with the aim to form a professional staff and
management team that can bring the Group to different levels
of success.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, EMPLOYEES AND
SHAREHOLDERS

The success of the Group also depends on the support from
key parties which comprise customers, suppliers, employees
and shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group have maintained good relationships with the customers
and suppliers and there was no material dispute between the
Group and the customers or the suppliers.

Regarding the employees, the Group focuses on the talents
of our employees as our most valuable asset and provides a
harmonious and professional working environment. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, we have provided competitive
remuneration packages to our employees to recognize their
contribution to the Group.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
the Shareholders. The Group will focus on our core business
for achieving sustainable profit growth and rewarding the
Shareholders with dividend payouts while taking into account
the business development needs and financial health of the
Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Law Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the GEM Listing Rules and the
SFO relating to, among other things, the information disclosure
and corporate governance.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 72 to 73 of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable
and sustainable dividend policy. The Board would strive to
strike a balance between meeting Shareholder’s expectations
and managing funds prudently. When considering the
dividend policy, the Board will comprehensively observe the
macro-economic, the competition pattern of the industry and its
own development strategy. To ensure the Group has sufficient
working capital to implement the development strategy, the
Company will distribute surplus funds to Shareholders and
reward their support. As such, there will be no assurance that
the Company will be able to declare or distribute any dividend
in the amount set out in any plan by the Board. If the Company
pays dividends, the dividend payout ratio will remain at 20% or
above if possible.

Dividend
The Board do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK3.1 cents per share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

In order to ascertain the entitlement of Shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM, the transfer books and register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 28 July
2020 to Friday, 31 July 2020 (both days inclusive), during of
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 July 2020.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 76 and in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HKD74.0 million (2019: HKD81.5 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to less than HKDO.1 million (2019: less than
HKDO.1 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company is set out in note 22 and 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements during the year in the share options is
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and
“Share option scheme” section contained in this Directors’
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and there was
no restriction against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 160 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Kin Kei (Chief Operating Officer)

Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Sung Tak Wing, Leo (appointed on 11 March 2020)

Non-executive Director
Cheung Ting Pong (resigned on 22 October 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (appointed on 21 January 2020)

Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson (appointed on 21 January 2020)
Pang Chung Fai, Benny

Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.P. (resigned on 1 January 2020)

Wu Kam On, Keith (resigned on 2 February 2020)

In accordance with Article 109(a) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Wong Kin Kei, Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo, Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson and Mr. Pang
Chung Fai, Benny shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Cheung Ting Pong resigned as a non-executive Director
in order to devote more time to his other work arrangements.
Mr. Cheung Ting Pong has confirmed that he has no
disagreement with the Board and nothing relating to the affairs
of the Company needed to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.£ and Mr. Wu Kam On, Keith
resigned as independent non-executive Director on 1 January
2020 and 2 February 2020 respectively. Both of them have
confirmed that they have no disagreement with the Board and
nothing relating to the affairs of the Company needed to be
brought to the attention of the Shareholders and the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis and Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson
are independent non-executive Directors and were appointed
for a one-year term expiring on 20 January 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

The Company has entered into a director’s service agreement
with each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong,
Mr. Wong Kin Kei and Ms. Hui, for a term of three years from
4 January 2018. The Company also entered into a director’s
service agreement with Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo, an executive
Director, with an initial term of one year commencing from
11 March 2020.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to Mr. Pang
Chung Fai, Benny, an independent non-executive Director,
with a term of three years from 4 January 2018. The Company
also issued letter of appointment to each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis
and Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson, with an initial term of one
year commencing from 21 January 2020.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business, to which the Company, its
holding company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with the Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at anytime during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service agreements and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or in existence as at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2019 or at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Brief biographical details of Directors including the professional
qualifications of the company secretary and compliance officer
are set out on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 31(a) and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

The Directors’ remunerations are subject to Shareholders’
approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the remuneration committee of the Company
(“Remuneration Committee”) with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)), which would
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interest or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required
to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46
to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities
transactions by the directors were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)
(A) Long Position in the Company’s Shares

EERESTRAEREAQFHEMA
BrEZERG HEROREZVESERK

RE (#)

(A) RERBARDEEFR

Number of Percentage
Name of Directors/ Capacity/ issued shares held/ of the issued
chief executive nature of interest interested in share capital
i/ EEREN HE BT
EZ/BETHRABHSE B/ EEME ERITROHE BRABDL
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie Interest of spouse 112,500,000 (Note 1) 56.25%
FERLT [N X (Htet1)
Mr. Wong Kin Kei Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 (Note 2) 18.75%
corporation
EREELE REEE RS (Htit2)
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 (Note 3) 56.25%
corporation
THiFEEE X EE R (H1#3)
Notes: Byt

1. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen, is deemed to be interested in the 112,500,000
Shares held by him, through his controlled corporation,
Madison Square International Investment Limited, pursuant
to the SFO.

2. Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist
of 37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment
Group Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Kin Kei is deemed to be interested under the
SFO.

3. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in
consist of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square
International Investment Limited, a company wholly owned
by him, in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be
interested under the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)
(B) Long Position in the Shares of associated
corporations

BEERBETHRAERARTAREME
BEERG HEROREEFNERZR
KB (&)

(B) RiEEEERBHITFA

Number of

Name of Directors/ Name of associated Capacity/ issued shares Percentage of
chief executive corporation nature of interest held/interested in shareholding
Fifs/ BAREN
EZ/BETHABHS HEEEAR SRIEENEE ERITRAHEA FREDHL
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Madison Square Interest of spouse 37,500 100%
Maggie (Note 1) International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
TERRT (M) HEFERAF (fzF2) [ 3
Mr. Wong Kin Kei J&J Partner Investment Beneficial owner 12,500 100%
Group Limited (Note 3)
BRELE BEFRRFE (Hi23) ERBAA
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Madison Square Beneficial owner 37,500 100%

Tttrks

International Investment
Limited (Note 2)

Notes:

1.

Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen, is deemed to be interested in Mr. Wong Sai Chuen’s
interest in Madison Square International Investment Limited,
pursuant to the SFO.

Under the SFO, a holding company of listed corporation is
regarded as an “associated corporation”. Madison Square
International Investment Limited held 56.25% of our issued
share capital and thus was our associated corporation.

Under the SFO, a holding company of listed corporation
is regarded as an “associated corporation”. J&J Partner
Investment Group Limited held 18.75% of our issued share
capital and thus was or associated corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

tHEERRAE (H:t2) i

FeiL T D ERL RS REEERY
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3. WREFFLBMEKRN  ETERERNZERABRE
ETHBEE | - JBRERARFHARAFEELT
BRANE918.75% @ B A2 2 R H) AR B K )

B EXCATR T E SN FA2020F3A31H  BHEAR QA FE
ERERTBRABRBEZERHEAREAR RS E
TAEEEZE (T& LESRBEEH) OEMB&EG -
HERG RESFPHEEEAESZIORRE

HEEEAT 20205EHE 33



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHE

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 March 2020, so far as known to the Directors, the
particulars of the corporate or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more
interests and short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Position in the Company’s Shares

FERRREMALTREARRHG RHE
EROHNERR KR

MR2020F3A31B " BESA RIEFESH L EE KA
FIBHEGFEME LML EER AN QR RH &IEE
EH5% kA EEERABENEZEXAL (RKRARES
HEEITHRABRIMN FBEOT:

RADARGBEE

Number of issued

Capacity/ shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Shareholders nature of interest interested in shareholding
s/ EEREREN
i S/ ERME ERITRHOHE BERES L
Madison Square International Beneficial owner 112,500,000 56.25%
Investment Limited (Note 7)
t=2BHRAA (Hit1) BEmlA A
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 56.25%
corporation
FiFEE (Hat1) R EEER
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie (Note 2) Interest of spouse 112,500,000 56.25%
et (KFi2) i (B =
J&J Partner Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 37,500,000 18.75%
(Note 3)
BEBRRA (HF3) BEmEA A
Mr. Wong Kin Kei (Note 3) Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 18.75%
corporation
EREELE (H7F3) LB ER
Ms. Ho Sin Ying (Note 4) Interest of spouse 37,500,000 18.75%
&+ (Hat4) B n
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Notes:

1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in consist
of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square International
Investment Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be interested under the SFO.

2. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai Chuen, is
deemed to be interested in the 112,500,000 Shares held by him,
through his controlled corporation, Madison Square International
Investment Limited, pursuant to the SFO.

3. Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist of
37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment Group
Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which Mr. Wong Kin
Kei is deemed to be interested under the SFO.

4. Ms. Ho Sin Ying, the spouse of Mr. Wong Kin Kei, is deemed to
be interested in the 37,500,000 Shares held by him, through his
controlled corporation, J&J Partner Investment Group Limited,
pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of compensating
them through the grant of options for their contribution to the
growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme include
directors (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) and employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
other person who is in the absolute discretion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is 20,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
announcement.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
eligible person under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option
Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a consideration of
HK$1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options may be vested
over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iiij the nominal value of a
Share.

No share options has lapsed, or have been granted, exercised
or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this announcement, hence no outstanding
share option as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the adoption of
the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) with
immediate effect, pursuant to which all eligible persons will be
entitled to participate. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme
is to recognize the contributions by certain eligible persons
and provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continuing operation and development of the Group, and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be granted under
the Share Award Scheme is 2,056,000 Shares, representing
approximately 1.03% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this announcement. No Shares
have been granted under the Share Award Scheme since its
adoption and up to the date of this announcement.

A summary of the terms of the Share Award Scheme has been
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 16 October
2018.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2020 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to an arrangement that would enable the Directors or their
close associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
relevant provisions therein, the Directors, company secretary
and other officers shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may incur in or sustain by the execution of their
duties in their respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors and senior management of the Company in respect
of legal action against them in the course of execution of their
duties in good faith.
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENT

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” above and note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, sales attributable to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for 9.2% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales to the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for 32.8% of the Group’s total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, purchases attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 10.1% of the
Group’s total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable
to the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 29.5%
of the Group’s total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
or their respective close associates, or Shareholders owning
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no
transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the year and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the purchase of Shares by the trustee through
on-market transactions at prevailing market price as stipulated
under the Share Award Scheme (as defined above), neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 42 to 62
of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the issued
shares were held by the public) as required by Rule 17.38A
of the GEM Listing Rules during the year and as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of the annual report.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors and Controlling Shareholders or any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) are engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor are
they aware of any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor
are they aware of any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group during the year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On 8 December 2017, Mr. Wong Sai Chuen and Madison
Square International Investment Limited (collectively referred
to as the “Covenantors”), and the Company (for itself and
as trustee for each of its subsidiaries) entered into a deed of
non-competition (the “Non-competition Deed”), pursuant
to which each of the Covenantors has irrevocably, jointly and
severally given certain non-competition undertakings to the
Company. Details of the Non-competition Deed are set out in
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders
— Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Covenantors confirmed that they have complied with the
Non-competition Deed for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted such
review for the year ended 31 March 2020 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Non-competition
Deed has been fully complied.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Director, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rule.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

With effect from 1 May 2019, the Company and TC Capital
International Limited (“TC Capital’) have mutually agreed
to terminate the compliance adviser agreement entered into
between the Company and TC Capital dated 6 July 2017
(the “TC Capital Agreement”). The Company has appointed
Messis Capital Limited (“Messis Capital”’) as the new
compliance adviser of the Company and signed a compliance
adviser agreement with Messis Capital (the “Messis Capital
Agreement”) with effect from 1 May 2019.

As notified by TC Capital and Messis Capital respectively, save
for the TC Capital Agreement and Messis Capital Agreement,
neither TC Capital nor Messis Capital, as the compliance
adviser of the Company during the respective periods, nor any
of their directors, employees or close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in the Group
or in the share capital of the Company or any member of the
Group which is required to be notified to the Company pursuant
to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules as at 31 March 2020.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of
reference which are no less exacting terms than those set out
in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “CG Code”). Currently, the Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Cheung
Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson and Mr. Pang
Chung Fai, Benny, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis,
who has appropriate professional qualifications and experience
as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2020, which is of the opinion that
such information have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable accounting standards, the requirements under the
Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2020 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. There is no change in
auditors since the date of the listing of the Company.

PUBLICATION OF 2020 ANNUAL REPORT
The 2020 annual report of the Company containing all
the information required by the GEM Listing Rules will be
dispatched to Shareholders and will also be published on the
websites of HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) as well as the
website of the Company (www.sclhk.com).

On behalf of the Board
Sanbase Corporation Limited
Wong Sai Chuen
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to adopting a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures throughout the
Group. The Directors firmly believe that sound and reasonable
corporate governance practices are essential for the steady
growth of the Group and for safeguarding the interests of
Shareholders.

The Company has complied throughout the year ended
31 March 2020 with all the code provisions in the CG Code as
set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, except the
following deviation:

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wong, holds
both positions. Mr. Wong has been primarily responsible
for overseeing the Group’s management and business
development and formulating business strategies and policies
of the Group since 2009. As the Board meets regularly to
consider matters relating to business operations of the Group,
the Board is of the view that the above arrangement will not
impair the balance of power and authority of the Board and the
executive management. The effectiveness of corporate planning
and implementation of corporate strategies and decisions will
generally not be undermined.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTION BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms equivalent to the Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having
made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they
have fully complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business,
strategic decision and performance. The Board is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should
carry out their fiduciary duties in good faith, make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company as a whole.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management
and internal control systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the senior management
and the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the senior management. The Board has the full support of
the senior management to discharge its responsibilities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing Shareholders value. The Board
comprises four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors currently. The members of the Board
during the year and up to the date of this annual report are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Kin Kei (Chief Operating Officer)

Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Sung Tak Wing, Leo (appointed on 11 March 2020)

Non-executive Directors
Cheung Ting Pong (resigned on 22 October 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (appointed on 21 January 2020)

Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson (appointed on 21 January 2020)
Pang Chung Fai, Benny

Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.~ (resigned on 1 January 2020)

Wu Kam On, Keith (resigned on 2 February 2020)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of
having a minimum of three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise and must appoint independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board except
for the period from 1 January 2020 (following the resignation of
Mr. Fan Chun Wah, Andrew, J.r) to 20 January 2020. Following
the appointment of Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis and Mr. Chan
Chi Kwong, Dickson as independent non-executive Directors
with effect from 21 January 2020, the Company has complied
with the relevant requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of
the Group. Each executive Director is responsible for different
businesses and functional divisions of the Group in accordance
with his/her expertise. The non-executive Director scrutinizes
the performance of management in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives and monitor the Group’s performance
reporting. The independent non-executive Directors bring
different businesses and financial expertise, experiences and
independent judgement to the Board and they constitute the
majority of each of the Board committees of the Company.
Through participation in Board meetings and taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflicts of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the Shareholders.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rule and considers them to be independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, except for Mr. Wong
and Ms. Hui, the Directors have no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) between
any members of the Board. Biographies of Directors are set out
on pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
renewal upon expiry of the existing term. The Company has
entered into a director’s service agreement with to each of the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong, Mr. Wong Kin Kei and
Ms. Hui, for a term of three years from 4 January 2018. The
Company also entered into a director’s service agreement with
Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo, an executive Director, with an initial
term of one year commencing from 11 March 2020.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to Mr. Pang
Chung Fai, Benny, an independent non-executive Director,
with a term of three years from 4 January 2018. The Company
also issued letter of appointment to each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis
and Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson, with an initial term of one
year commencing from 21 January 2020.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting of the Company provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Any new Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment,
whereas any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to
the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company. The Directors should
be eligible for re-election at the relevant annual general meeting
of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings and attendance

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the
executive Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and
each Director is able to request inclusion of items in the
agenda. The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings
on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when
circumstances require. The Board held 12 meetings during the
financial year ended 31 March 2020 to consider, among other
things, reviewing and approving the quarterly, interim, annual
results and payments of dividends of the Group.

Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least
14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to give
all directors an opportunity to attend. During the year ended
31 March 2020, certain Board meetings were convened with
less than 14 day’s notice to enable the Board members to react
timely and make expeditious decisions in respect of urgent
corporate transaction and general business update which was
significant in nature. As a result, such Board meetings were
held with a shorter notice period than required with the consent
of the Directors. The Board will do its best endeavor to meet
the requirement of code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code in the
future.

Adequate and appropriate information are circulated to the
Directors normally three days in advance of Board meetings
or such period accepted by them. Minutes of all Board and
committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and
are open for inspection by the Directors. Draft minutes of all
Board and committee meetings are circulated to all Directors
and committee members for comments within the period
accepted by them after each meeting.

The Directors attend meetings in person or via telephone
conference, as permitted under the Articles of Association.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board meetings and attendance (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings,
committee meetings, the annual general meeting held on
10 September 2019 (the “2019 AGM”) for the year is set out

below:
Board
meetings
=g
=f ]
Total Number of Meetings &#XHAH 12
Executive Directors HITES
Wong Sai Chuen TF 12/12
Wong Kin Kei ERE 12/12
Hui Man Yee, Maggie et 12/12
Sung Tak Wing, Leo FNELS N/A i F
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Cheung Ting Pong REH 2/4
Independent BUFBTES
Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Chi Man Dennis KEX 3/3
Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson BRE X 3/3
Pang Chung Fai, Benny e 12/12
Fan Chun Wah, Andrew B E 7/7
Wu Kam On, Keith B 9/9

The Company Secretary attends the Board/Board committees
meetings. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board/Board committees
procedures are observed and advising the Board/Board
committees on compliance matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution into the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in CPD to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills by read materials and/or
attend training course, seminars or workshops organised by
professional bodies on corporate governance or updated on
laws, rules and regulations relating to the roles, functions and
duties of a Director.

The individual record of each Director who received training for
the year is summarised as follow:

Directors =}

Executive Directors BTES

Wong Sai Chuen FtEfF

Wong Kin Kei =RE

Hui Man Yee, Maggie FElE

Sung Tak Wing, Leo RIGE
Non-executive Directors HITES
Cheung Ting Pong REFH
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHTES

Cheung Chi Man, Dennis SRR X

Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson PR & K
Pang Chung Fai, Benny T
Fan Chun Wah, Andrew SpEEHE
Wu Kam On, Keith BB 85 %2
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant to code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code, the Board
is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties during the year ended 31 March 2020 as set out below:

° developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

° reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

o reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

° reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the CG Report.

BOARD COMMITTEE

The Company has three Board committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”)
and Remuneration Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference which
are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and on the
Company’s website. All the Board committees should report to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The respective
role, responsibilities and activities of each Board committee are
set out below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with a specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised three independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis,
Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson and Mr. Pang Chung Fai,
Benny, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, who
has appropriate professional qualifications and experience as
required by Rules 5.05 and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.
None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group and
considering any significant or unusual items raised by the
financial officers of the Group or external auditor before
submission to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor and making
relevant recommendations to the Board; and reviewing the
Company’s financial reporting system and the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

By invitation of the Audit Committee, other Directors and senior
management may also attend the meetings. The Company
Secretary prepared full minutes of the Audit Committee
meetings with details of discussions and decisions reached.
Sufficient resources are made available to the committee when
independent legal or professional advice is required. The Audit
Committee members meet with the external auditor twice a
year.

The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2020:

° reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
and the annual results announcement of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2019;

° reviewed the interim unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the interim results announcement of the
Company for the 6 months ended 30 September 2019;

° reviewed the quarterly unaudited consolidated financial
statements and quarterly results announcement of the
Company for the 3 months ended 30 June 2019 and 9
months ended 31 December 2019 respectively;

° reviewed the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the Company’s external auditor;

° reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management policies; and

° reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices,
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and statutes, and
financial reporting matter.

EEEZEE (&)

EREES (£)

EREES VI EREANREEENENAEE
TEE LERRELEREEAEESEA S K
ERHMIEL Y EAEAKXTEHEE R B
B HRERERKR YMESRIEY MRS
RENAATDNNBREZS BREER A MEE R
G E B A -

EEZZEQHF M HMEZRRREEERATL
FER - ARMERAELZBECERNTRERL
B EREINTREIRZ -HEEBLEARREXE
BER ZZEBENEGRRER-ERLZEENKES
F B 5S4 2R B & T RN o

HE2020F3A31IBEFERN BEREEGZ TIEH
aan T

. EHAQRREE2019F3A3MBLEEZRER
R RFEEENS:

. ER ARG EHZE2019F9H30H (k618 B 2 &7
AEBZGEVERRRPEHESE NS

. EHARRQT S BIEE2019E6A30R 1L31A A &
HZE2019F 128318 9@ B 2 FE R EF X4
BUMBBRENTREEENE:

o EHARASIMNSIZEED 2 B & EREEHRR:

o EHARRZWBIES  AFPEIE R AR EER
Rk

s EHAKEZEHRARED ETGEM EHR
AR R BERESE

HEEERQE 20206FHE

51



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERB®SE

BOARD COMMITTEE (Continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with a specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised one executive Director,
Mr. Wong, and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Chi Kwong,
Dickson and Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny, and chaired by
Mr. Wong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; (ii) identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection criteria

In selecting candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to certain criteria
such as:

° the Company’s needs;

° the diversity on the Board;

° the integrity, experience, skills and professional knowledge
of the candidate; and

° the amount of time and effort that the candidate will
devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities.

External recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry
out selection process when necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Board diversity policy

During the year, the Board adopted a Board diversity policy
setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavors to ensure that the Board had
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s business.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Company will also take into account factors based
on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. Such policy will be reviewed from time to time to ensure
the appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of
the Board.

The following is a summary of the work of the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2020:

° reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;
° identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendation to the Board on

their appointments;

° assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

° reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the
re-appointment of retiring Directors at the 2019 AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued) EEE2REE (@)

Remuneration Committee FMEES

The Remuneration Committee was established with a specific AARIERUHFMEE S WD BROEEATHIET
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. Y B FrEZHBESHE -ZESREH =8B IFNTT
The committee currently comprised three independent ZEEAREXEA BEXLERETHELEHKL
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, HBRE YR AEEEEE -

Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson and Mr. Pang Chung Fai, Benny,

and chaired by Mr. Chan Chi Kwong, Dickson.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee HMZE SN T BB EBRERBELEE RTINS
include making recommendations to the Board on the {§XZEB.1.2(c)(i) &M E F 2 5 A D 7 89 F B R &
Company’s remuneration policy and structure and on the ZREUNEENSAEEBNFINTBREES -F
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management BZE@NEBERZEFINRELEEBH TEBHE
pursuant to the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. ZRF UWHRITESFHETMHEALTL2EETF
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing EBHHM MuzxMiSmHESSL2EZ@AARARNA AR
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy RN E R MIBIREEET -

and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates

will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which

remuneration will be determined by the Board with reference to

the performance of the individual and the Company as well as

the prevailing market conditions.

The following is a summary of the work of the Remuneration R E E2020F3A31HIEFEAN FMEE S 2 T1E
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2020: BRatan T

e Reviewed the Group’s policy and structure for the o HBHEAEEEHUEETLSREBEEBEHEM 2 HE
remuneration of Directors and senior management; T ZRHE

e Reviewed and recommended to the Board the e HMEkmMESeREZEST AR RERE Z2&H M
remuneration packages of Directors and senior T &
management; and

an B

e Ensured that no director or any of his/her associates are o TERVTEZEFHE([MHPHBA L2 EATHE
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. BEMcEHE-
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2020
and 2019 are set out in note 31(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than the Directors) for the year ended 31 March 2020 by band
is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HKD)
FEEE (Ex)

1,500,001 to 2,000,000 1,500,001%2,000,000

Share interest of senior management
As at 31 March 2020, none of the senior management had any
interests in the shares of the Company.

Auditor’s remuneration

The external audit provides an objective assessment of the
financial information presented by the management, and is
considered one of the essential elements to ensure effective
corporate governance. During the year, the fees charged by
PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit and non-audit services of
HKD1,250,000 and HKD345,000 respectively. The non-audit
services mainly represent of taxation services.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit
fees, effectiveness of the audit process, independence and
objectivity of PricewaterhouseCoopers and has recommended
to the Board the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuring year at the
forthcoming AGM.

EEREREEREHH
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an
integrated and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, which includes the establishment of a
defined management structure with specified limits of authority.
The internal control system is designed to assist in the
achievement of business objectives of the Group, safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring the
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication
and ensuring compliance with relevant legislation and
regulation. The internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the
Group’s objectives. The internal control system (embedded
in the operations of the Company and forms part of the
Company'’s culture) includes:

° effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

° capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the
business arising from factors within the Company and
to the change in business environment; and include
procedures for reporting immediately to appropriate
management levels regarding any significant control
weakness that are identified together with details of
corrective action being undertaken;

° reliability of financial reporting; and
° compliance with applicable rules, laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:

56 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

b B R A RREE =

S RAAARASERE2MARNAREER
NEEZERG BEHEEREBEBREEAEER -
NBEZEEXREEBHEXNANEEBXBAR REE
EAGREEREZEAREE ARG L8RS A
HERGT MNERUAIENMBEREASER XS
SNEE TN I FE AR B ST AR BEOE B B2 AR R o Y BB E I R A
FHERHEAEBLIFBEHMNRE AR LLEKRERR
MFERARERYIFEEREERRRENRARIARE
AAKEZBER AREERRCRAXRLALEM
MREX(Ez— B¥:

o BEMMAERRE
. BHAAATNERERELMEBARRY
EEBEMRBRABELRE LRERSEY

EEENRERGHRNINEAEEHY &
PSR AL ETT B RO TR ¢

o HMBHMEMAEN K
o  ETERHERMEMR-

EFZ2RBERNAMEZEERINTIERFNT:



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREB®RS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and
lines of authority.

Authority and Control

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and related matters formulated by the
Board.

Payment Procedures

Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review
and approve for payment in respect of the capital and recurring
expenditures.

Financial reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going
concern basis, with reasonable and prudent judgement and
estimates as necessary. In preparing the accounts for the three
months ended 30 June 2019, six months ended 30 September
2019, nine months ended 31 December 2019 and the year
ended 31 March 2020, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

Risk Management

The Board together with senior management responsible
for monitoring and assessing risk regularly, boost related
management standards and evaluate investment projects.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Audit

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
the Group’s size and its structure is small and simple and the
Board is of the opinion that it is more cost effective to appoint
an external independent service provider to carry out internal
audit function for the Group if necessary. However, the Board
will continue to review the need for an internal audit function at
least annually.

Internal Control Review

During the year, the Company has engaged an external service
provider to carried out an annual review on the internal control
system including financial, operational and compliance control,
and risk management functions. The review adopts a risk-based
approach to create and review the effectiveness of an internal
control system and includes the following works:

(i) to carry out a high level review on the internal control
system on new business/member of the Group under the
principles which cover major control aspects; and

(i)  to arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group
on a selective basis.

The Company has adopted a set of internal control policies and
procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure proper
maintenance of accounting records and reliability of financial
information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company based
on the available information (normally from the news and
periodicals) about local and market’s dynamic movements and
their understanding of the risk assessment is enhanced through
the on-the-job training and regular meetings to discuss cases
of the potential risk.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)
Internal Control Review (Continued)
Identification, assessment and management:

the head of each department such as the Finance
Department and the Board will be informed regarding the
factors that have impact on the profit and price based on
the nature of business and their own experience. During
the course of execution, the concerned responsible
person of the Company will handle relevant documents
and report to the Directors.

as for matters as required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company Secretary will present the
issues to the Board for review and discussion, and inform
Directors and relevant personnel that dealing in the shares
of the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

generally, the Company Secretary will check with the
requirements as prescribed in Chapter 19 and Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules before execution of the proposed
transactions (including continuing connected transactions),
to assess whether the proposed transaction will trigger
the disclosures requirements either in announcements,
circulars and annual reports, and the need to obtain
Shareholders’ approval.

During the year, the external service provider, engaged by

the

Company, has presented its review report and make

recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee has discussed with the management and reported
the progress of the work plan and related findings to the Board
at board meeting.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Corporate
Governance enhancement

In compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
and for the purpose of reinforcing the Group’s internal control
system, the Company has established a strong internal control
framework, put in place a set of stringent policies and code of
conduct to emphasis values on integrity, fairness, transparency
and accountability so as to stand against corruption and fraud.
During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its internal control report to the
Audit Committee, who is responsible for reviewing the relevant
policy and system so as to achieve in develop effective control
activities and then to mitigate the risks.

The Directors has strengthened corporate governance
practices, including formalization of the reporting practice
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an on-going basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and
management has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions are adequate)
and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary assists the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.
Ms. Choi Yin Ying, acting as Company Secretary for the period
from 11 October 2019 to 31 May 2020, has undertaken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
her skills and knowledge during the year pursuant to Rule 5.15.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirement under paragraph O of the CG
Code.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article of 64 of the Articles of the Association, it is
stipulated that:

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. The extraordinary general meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(“Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at
the Company’s principal place of business. The request will
be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars and
transfer office in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to
include the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting (Continued)

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

a. Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in the AGM of the Company.

b.  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

c.  Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for directing Shareholders enquires to
the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of Company Secretary, by email:
ir@sanbase.com.hk, fax: (852) 2870 3813, or mail to 16/F, Loon
Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels
with Shareholders and investors. Apart from publication of
quarterly, interim and annual reports, press announcement
and release, updated and key information of the Group are
available on the Company’s website. The Company’s website
offers communication channel between the Company and its
Shareholders and investors. The Company’s registrars serve
the Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the year.

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has published its memorandum of association and
articles of association on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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To the Shareholders of Sanbase Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Sanbase Corporation
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 72 to 159, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2020;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting polices.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

° Recognition of contract revenue

° Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade and
retention receivables

Key Audit Matters
BEREKEE

Recognition of contract revenue

BRSHBA

Refer to notes 2.21 and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
FLHGRAVBRERWNFE2.21 M6 -

The Group recorded contract revenue from the services of
bare shell fit-out, restacking and reinstatement for the year
ended 31 March 2020 of approximately HKD617.2 million.
HE20206F3A31BILFE: BEEEEELRREEE EER
BERRBEF[EHWRALGI7T2EERET
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BEMNERNNEEFRERSHE

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s

recognition of contract revenue included:

BHAAEHEEERRBANBANEZREFEH:

and contractual relationship with the customers;
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|~

EERREREE MRS

RRYERAH
MEAVBERRNECRAEENEH - FLERE
MBmE RO AT REETREE

Selected the ongoing contracts on a sample basis
and reviewed the terms and conditions of the
contracts to understand the respective work nature

BEIEETHNANLENA HRIER
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Key Audit Matters
ERELREE

Revenue from contracts for the above services is recognised
over the period of the contract by measuring the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
on the basis of the actual costs incurred by the Group up to
the year-end date as a percentage of total estimated costs
for each contract.

FiBRBEHRARGOINERE EXEREFEARD
EEZEBRRAEEGARFRAKAIAN B LA EBROEL
MiER T ZEE -

We focused on this area as significant management’s
judgement is involved to estimate the costs to complete
individual service contract for projects in progress. The
estimated costs to completion is used to determine the
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation of an individual service contract and to recognise
relevant contract revenue accordingly.

BRI HENEE TR ERNETHRES LEE
B AR H B B KB IR JE A o 1 5t 5T A B AR R 1 7 E 18 A1 AR
BEABANEE TR ER W AERMBERERSOWA -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNNEERREREE

e Checked the correspondences with selected
customers, including project acceptance documents
or communication evidence to evaluate the
reasonableness of management’s estimates on the
progress towards completion of a project;

e REHEFTEPHNAEG BREBEBEEAXMIBEFE
B EREEHNER TR EEMANEEN:

e Assessed management’s determination of the
progress toward complete satisfaction of the
projects through inquiry with project managers,
inspection of project status summary and other
correspondences with customers and performed
site visits;

e MBEMBRKELSH BREBEEHMAKREZTSETH
fBEWETHRSEER U EEIEEHEE TE
EBVRE

° Reviewed the latest project budgets and quotations
from subcontractors in assessing management’s
determination of estimated total costs of projects;

s EHEFHEBBERAAHABHNRE UNFHEEE
1B hEH AR ARDORE

e Tested the total costs incurred up to the date of
statement of financial position by checking, on
a sample basis, subcontractors’ invoices and/or
quotationS' and

e RHMEREEBBRENAAFHOBER HRE B
BHEVBRAAKREAEENAKARETAIR &

e Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
contract revenue and Costs

o BHABHWARKAFTENERN -

Based on the above, we found management’s judgement
used to estimate total costs of projects and progress
towards complete satisfaction as at year end date were
supported by available evidence.

ER EER BB REEBHMEIER BRAARR
FHEBTRKEENBERAMERNHAEB L ERREF-
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Key Audit Matters
ERELREE

Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables

BRNEEUREZ RRE EWRNRER G

Refer to notes 4.1(ii)(c) and 18 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BL2HGEA P BEREW 4.1 c) R E185%19 °

The Group had gross contract assets of approximately
HKD138.0 million and gross trade and retention receivables
of approximately HKD80.5 million as at 31 March 2020.
M2020%F3A31H EBEEENANEELELNR138.08
BETUARE S RRE S BUGREFELN RBOLAEBT

The loss allowances for these financial assets were
determined based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. To measure expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention receivables had
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets related to
unbilled work in progress had substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade and retention receivables for
the same types of contracts.
ZECREENEEREDERBEEHEEOR R RFEMHEE
EZBRRET-RIAEFEHAEEEE GRNEEURES R
RETEUARERBEHRAEERREB LA RS AE-
ERNEEPRRAARCREIRE SHAREREGAONEI R
RE & EWFREERBE R E RS-

The expected loss rates were based on the payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced over a period before 31 March 2020.
TEHAE 1B R Ty BN 85 & 1 3B L %2020 3 A31H Al 2 HA
MAKENERBTEEBE-
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNNEERREREE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables included:
BMRBHEEGHNEENRE S KRE S E YR ET G
NEZEZEFBIE:

e Understood the key controls over management’s
assessment of expected credit loss for contract
assets and trade and retention receivables including
the evaluations of customers’ credit profiles and
their respective credit risk;

s THEEEMIAGEGNEEUAREZRRESEW
RZEHEEER (BRIALCEFNGEEEN LR
E0EE R M) BB SEE S

e Tested, on a sample basis, the historical payment
profile of customers;

s RHMEEEMNARTFPHNBEERCE:

e  Performed market research to obtain industry data
and corroborated explanations from management
with supporting evidence to assess reasonableness
of forward looking information used by management
in determining the adjusted loss rates; and

e ETMSRHECUBBRITERBAZTEETIRENME
M EREENETKARBEXSMAREMGT
BERzEEL R
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Key Audit Matters
ERELREE

The historical loss rates were adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the contract
assets and trade and retention receivables.
BEBRETURBUARBMEERFEEANEENURES
RREERURENNEAZBLBERZNE A RATELEE
e

Management then estimated the loss allowances of contract
assets and trade and retention receivables based on the
adjusted loss rates, the outstanding balances of contract
assets and ageing profiles of trade and retention receivables
as at 31 March 2020.
EEEEMBEN202063A3BNANEEKLAREBER
RREBEERRE D MRE S ERROEREKIBGOEE
NRE G RRE BB BEEEETMEET -

Based on this assessment, management had estimated
loss allowances of approximately HKD1.0 million and
approximately HKD5.0 million for contract assets and trade
and retention receivables respectively as at 31 March 2020.
B IEFT G B E M N20206F3A31B G NEEM R
BEHRRESBUKRHEEEESHAL1.08 88T RLS5.0
BEET-

We focused on this area due to the size of the contract
assets and trade and retention receivables as at 31 March
2020 and the significant management’s judgements used
to estimate the expected credit losses of these financial
assets.

BB R B TYRMR2020F3A3IA A NEEREHE
WHRBEREBREHNRELERANUNGTZSEEREECTERD
SEEEBRDNDSRERNEIREH -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNERNNEERREREE

e Checked, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade and retention receivables as at 31 March
2020 to the underlying financial records.

o IR EEREMN2020F3A31B A MUK ERAK
B 5 MRE € BB REIE R o

Based on the above, we found that management’s
judgements used in relation the impairment assessment
of contract assets and trade and retention receivables
were supported by available evidence.

ERElBER BMRAEEEEHANEEARE S KRR
& & EW R B ER A E S EE R -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

68 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

AERMEAMER
BEARESAHAMESAR HitERREFRA
WA S BT BERAMHRE LB MIHRBAE

HE e

BMEGEMBERRNEREL MREEMES - B
BAHZEEMESREREMPANEEER

/]

Fo¥
b

BERMESAMBBRRNBZ RANEEHHE
HipER HUERET EZREMEEETEGEY
BREIBMAEEZERTATHRABAFEENE
BREUTFFEERERRANBER -

ERBMERATHOIE DRRMABLSEMESFHE
EABERRL BMATEREZFE-EEHE HAM
BREEMRE -

EEREREZEEENGEMBRRAR
EHEE

BERAREFEAERRBEREGHMAGRMHN (BB
MBREER) AR CRAEPD) B8R REREH
BEEMTPENEAYBTRE THERRRELRS
MBREOBEBETFEARUGFRERMERNERK
HHRRAPT B ABIEFI AR

ERBEGEMBRRT EFQHETE E5EKE
REMREN TEERBATREARELEHHN
FH URERABELERSTER RIEEFAE
® BEEEBFRAFLLLE HEEGEROEN

N
kS



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

BRBMRERGEVBERRAENER

BANBER DHSRAMBREABBES M FEAR
BAFRERMEBNEAERRARFAERE L
HEABRREMERENZEEHRSE - HMAER BT (E
RER)RERMNER BRI ZIIARFERIELME
MR T ERARENARTAEMEMBALTE £k
AEEMNEE-GERILSSKFIHRE ETER
ERBCEBERZER) ETTNER EX —BKRH
AR R L T 7 B AR BE B2 3R - BB BR PR BT LA Py KRR SR BE AR
SIE-MRAEBHEMEBIERERAETZER
BB RN AE A KRR AR B B 15 R P AR A AR R
E - AIBERMERRA AT REFEN-

ERE(EEERER) ETERNBRES RfE
RTERAE  REFTEXRERREE - RN

o BAMFEARNMKAFRERMENGRE BB R
REEERERRAORR Rt RRITERE
Fr LA B ¥ 55 L R B - DA KR BB TE R MU B /O | X
BRECFRBEMERNER ARBFFEAIRS R
BwomE FRER ERRA FEERAE
EhHlz b R AREERAKFMEHNEKRE
R EBRSNARERRENBRMEBNE
R B8 FR BRI B L B2

o THREFRZMEBHNAIES  URFEEHNEX
BF-EBENTIFY EREAMEHOERKE
BRER-
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 18 June 2020

BRBMRERGEVBERRAENER

(#&)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e EahEMEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

& Z20204 38318 IF F/F

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Administrative expenses

Fair value changes of financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss

Impairment losses on financial assets

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance income/(costs) — net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss,
net of income tax
ltem that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or l0ss:
—Exchange differences arising
on translation of foreign operation

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Note
ok
A 6
55 & A 7
EF
THAEX 7
BAREFABREZ
EREENAREE 16
EMEERIE
BERR
B A
51 75 B 7R

BN (RA) —F8E 8

BB A 3% R
PR X 10

F A

Ht2EER
B A 1§ Bt
HERREEF 7 RE
Bama) B A
—BMEBIINEBELDN
ME S E

FREZHEKEAE
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2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET

638,030 650,455
(572,962) (579,608)
65,068 70,847
(82,721) (29,811)

(737) =

(3,591) (3,326)

28,019 37,710

410 60

(367) (376)
_______________ 43 (319
28,062 37,394
(6,321) (7,076)

21,741 30,318

(140) (52)

21,601 30,266




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEmkHEMEHEHKSER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

B 22020F3H31H I F/Z
Note
Jioka
Profit for the year attributable to: EAFERREF:
Owners of the Company PiN/NEIEF SN
Non-controlling interests IR R
Total comprehensive income EhEEREZEKRRAEEHE:
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZN/NESIEZZE DN
Non-controlling interests FE 12 IR =
Earnings per share attributable to KAREE AEWN
owners of the Company BRER
Basic and diluted BERR#E 11

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other  FiliAR & 1B

comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FAETT
16,224 28,116
5,517 2,202
21,741 30,318
16,133 28,070
5,468 2,196
21,601 30,266
HK Cents HK Cents
B JEN
8.20 14.10

Ng

2 TE W B B BB BT B R — DB EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Ra B &

AS AT 31 MARCH 2020

R2020%F3H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
ok FET FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% B NERE 13 2,194 2,783
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3(a) 4,861 -
Intangible assets BEEE 14 9,719 9,927
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABRBRZ
profit or loss TREE 16 7,094 7,831
Deposits and prepayments & RENR 20 2,595 1,400
Deferred tax assets FEEFTISTE E 25 294 515
26,757 22,456
Current assets RBEE
Trade and retention receivables B 5 MR E & 'R 18 75,556 122,136
Contract assets ABREE 19 136,959 119,842
Deposits, other receivables and e Hamiulk
prepayments SEENEN 20 11,265 11,645
Cash and cash equivalents BENBEEEY 21 120,321 106,009
_________ 344,101 359,632
Total assets HmEE 370,858 382,088
EQUITY X
Equity attributable to the owners of ARATEBAEGERES
the Company
Share capital fi& A 22(a) 1,553 1,553
Shares held under share award scheme  f& 5 22 E) &t 21 T~ i
F% 17 22(b) (2,998) (2,998)
Share premium 10 s B 57,632 63,832
Exchange reserve B 5 % (144) (53)
Retained earnings IR &7 85,748 69,524
141,791 131,858
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR M == 10,414 4,946
Total equity RS 152,205 136,804
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
o

AS AT 31 MARCH 2020

R2020%F3H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
i aF FET FiET
LIABILITIES =
Non-current liabilities kARBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFEH A& 25 29 66
Lease liabilities HEBE 3(a) 2,745 =
____________ 2,774  _____._..66
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables =) ANEN 23 201,835 203,641
Accruals and other payables FE BT R H & 5 3K 23 3,046 6,638
Contract liabilities AHEE 19 5,656 18,729
Bank borrowing RITHER 24 - 12,800
Lease liabilities HEAE 3(a) 2,249 =
Current income tax liabilities BNERFTS M B & 3,093 3,410
_________ 215,879 245218
Total liabilities wEeE 218,653 245,284
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 370,858 382,088

The above consolidated statement of financial position should & #lt4R& B #E AR S 3R FE BABE BT BT s — OF BRI & -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 159 were  F72ZE F1598 MR & B 53k R B EE £ 2 1 2020F
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 F18H#LAEREHEAIZRAUNTEETREEE
18 June 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sai Chuen Wong Kin Kei
T itttz EREE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREHER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

& Z20204 38318 IF F/F

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAEE AEMR
Shares
held under Non-
Share Share share award Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium scheme reserve earnings Subtotal interests  Total equity
43 % B 5t &
(A& RAEE THERSG ERRE REEA Nt FERER R
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4 /1A 1,553 68,632 = = 41,408 111,693 - 111,693
Profit for the year FERER - = = = 28,116 28,116 2,202 30,318
Other comprehensive loss FREMZESR:
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on BEBINEBELN
translation of foreign operation 2R - - - (46) = (46) 6) (52)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FR2M (&#E) /
for the year hREE - - - (46) 28,116 28,070 2,196 30,266
Non-controlling interests on - 1=k
acquisition of subsidiaries FERER - - - - - - 2,138 2,138
Capital injection by non-controlling FrRERTE
interests - - - 7 - @) 612 605
Acquisition of shares under R R EIBE
share award scheme (Note 22(b)) Btn (Hiizoom)) - - (2,998) - - (2,998) - (2,998)
Final dividend paid BAIRERE - (4,800) - - - (4,800) - (4,800)
At 31 March 2019 R2019%E3A31H 1,553 63,832 (2,998) (53) 69,524 131,858 4,946 136,804
At 1 April 2019 R2019%4 818 1,553 63,832 (2,998) (53) 69,524 131,858 4,946 136,804
Profit for the year FERER = = - - 16,224 16,224 5,517 21,741
Other comprehensive loss FREMZESR:
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on BREBNEBEEN
translation of foreign operation ERLES - - - (91) - (91) (49) (140)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FR2M (FE) /
for the year hRaE - - - 91) 16,224 16,133 5,468 21,601
Final dividend paid BNREBRE - (6,200) - - - (6,200) - (6,200)
At 31 March 2020 R2020%3 531 A 1,553 57,632 (2,998) (144) 85,748 141,791 10,414 152,205

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should | #it4R & #E 25 8 B 3% e BABE B Bt == — HF R B -

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEBREERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

Bt Z202093H31H IF FF

Note
ligza
Cash flows from operating activities K& ZFZBHREFRE
Cash generated from operations BEEA RS 32(a)
Interest received 2 FE
Income tax paid 2SR
Net cash inflow from operating REFTHZ2FHEERA
activities
Cash flows from investing activities RETH2HRERE
Deposits paid for acquisition of EfKRE—FEHNERR
a subsidiary ZES 20
Payment of consideration payable THRKE—RHHE AR
for acquisition of a subsidiary FERT B
Payment for acquisitions of subsidiaries, X UtEEH B Q7
net of cash acquired MRS ER 2 15

Payments for purchase of property, SNEEWE BER
plant and equipment B 13

Payment for financial asset TR AREFER
at fair value through profit or loss HEHHAEBERZ
TREE
Net cash outflow from investing RETHZ2FRER
activities
Cash flows from financing activities ®BEFHZREFRE
Final dividend paid B RHRE
Interest paid B F &

Principal elements of lease payments SHHEENRZEASE D 320)
Payment for acquisition of shares M REEHETEE

under share award scheme &5 2 3% 22(b)
Capital injection by non-controlling R ERTE

interests
Proceeds from bank borrowing RITEEME XK
Repayment of bank borrowing BERITEE 32(b)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from METHFRE

financing activities (Fd) HAAX
Net increase in cash and ReRBREEEY

cash equivalents N E 48
Effects of exchange rate changes EERHEHRE R

on cash and cash equivalents ReEBYM HE
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April R4R1BRE& &

ReEEEY

Cash and cash equivalents M3ASIERER

at 31 March REEEY 21

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET

48,111 51,773

410 60

(6,437) (6,130)
o.......42,084 45703
(1,275) =

(4,008) =

- 4,949

(525) (1,066)

- (7,831)
___________ (5,808) . (3,948
(6,200) (4,800)
(367) (127)

(2,443) =
- (2,998)

- 605

- 20,300
(12,800) (7,500)
__________ (21,8100 5480
14,466 47,235

(154) 11

106,009 58,763
120,321 106,009
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sanbase Corporation Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on 24 March 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business is 16/F,
Loon Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
interior fit-out solutions in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The ultimate holding
company of the Company is Madison Square International
Investment Limited. The ultimate controlling party of
the Group is Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong” or the
“Controlling Shareholder”).

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange since 4 January
2018.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar thousands (“HKD’000”), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements
have been approved for issue by the Board on 18 June
2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are for the Group consisting the
Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
() Compliance with HKFRSs and Companies

Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (the “HKFRSs”), which
is a collective term for all individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”).

(ii) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair value, as
appropriate.

(iii) New and amended standards, improvements
and interpretations adopted by the Group
The following new standards, amendments,
annual improvements and interpretation have
been adopted by the Group for the financial
year beginning on or after 1 April 2019:

. HKFRS 16 “Lease”

o Prepayment features with negative
compensation — Amendments to HKFRS 9

TESTBREE

A ERERBEZESEEVHERREMRAD
TEEMBRRBE-BRABHBEIN AFBR
RIEEBRFEER —BEMA MBRRR/AE
(AARAREWMEARMERK) HR-

21 wREEE
() BIEBPBBEENR (DFTEH)

REBERE M B RER IR BT E E B
FrEeMBmELER ([BREMBREE
A1) (b FDRE P 85I E S /M 5 &
SEA - FEEHMAG ([EEBE
Mo )EhMEEGER ([&8
BEER]) REE) AR (REEd)D
KBt X T GEM & % £ R Bl ([GEM
IR DMERBEEREHEE -

(i) BEEAE
REBERE M B RERTIRRBE LKA
ERECEETERAAEFEZER
TARBI (@A) -

(i) NEBMRMBAHT REBTER F
EXERRE
REER2019F4 A1 B R 2 & FRAH
MPBERERBUTHER  EROE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. FESHHERE (#)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii)

New and amended standards adopted by

the Group (Continued)

° Long-term interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures — Amendments to HKAS 28

o Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards 2015 - 2017 Cycle

o Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement — Amendments to HKAS 19

° HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23 Uncertainty
over income tax treatments

The Group had to change its accounting
policies as a result of adopting HKFRS 16.
The Group elected to adopt the new standard
using the modified retrospective approach and
recognised the effect of initially applying the
new standards on 1 April 2019. The impact
of the adoption of HKFRS 16 is disclosed in
Note 3. Except for HKFRS 16, other new and
amended standards listed above do not have
a material impact on or are not relevant to the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHEHRE &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE (#)
(iv)y Amended standards and revised framework (iv) SHEMEREE N RERNERNE

not yet adopted AT AR R &ERT B2 HE 3R
The following amendments, and revised VAR 7] B B3 7N & (B 46 B8 /9 E R M9 (2 &
conceptual framework have been published but REELETHOHSERSLEMER
are not mandatory for 31 March 2020 reporting 2020F3H31H 2B AR - AEER
period and have not been early adopted by the H ZEZ2020F3A31H L FE EARIEA
Group. ez 5 4R -

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

or after
RUTEHR &R
NWEEBHBENR
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of material 1 April 2020
BERGHENE1RRBE G ER BARNESE 20204 A1H
85k (BETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business 1 April 2020
EREMBERELERFEIFR (BFIAR) EBHNEE 20204 H1H
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 April 2021
BEEMBRELENE1THR (BFTX) Rz & & 20214 A18
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sales or contribution of assets between To be determined
HKAS 28 an investor and its associate or joint
venture
EAVBHmEEREIOELEEGT REZHHBEAAXEGEAANEE FE
ERFE285% (BFTA) HEHIRA
Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 Hedge accounting 1 April 2020
and HKFRS 9
ERGHEUFERREBM GRS HHhgst 20204 A1H
HAUETHRRBEREMBRELEAFES
5% (BETA)
Conceptual Framework for Financial Revised conceptual framework for 1 April 2020
Reporting 2018 financial reporting
2018F B HMEMIER KRIETHBHRERSIER 20204 A1 H
The Group has commenced an assessment of REE T AT LSRR R ER
the impact of these amendments to standards BT AT E ANEBE M ARERETE
and revised conceptual framework. The Group ERSYHHRKEEENYBRRESE
is not yet in a position to state whether they EATE

would have a significant impact of is results of
operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation

(i)

(ii)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases. Intra-group
transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform
with the Group’s policies.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. ldentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured
at either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date
fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying amount of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquire is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with HKFRS 9 either in profit or
loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill.

If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

2. FESHHERE(#)

22 ®E (&)

(i) E¥EBLESH (&)

WRERBRARELR -

i %5 & 0F 0 B B 1T BB
77 ST B A B AU RS T AR O W
BHHRNREEEREERSN
AREEHMAE ZENTEE
EREMRSESBRIREBRP
FER o

AEEMEERNTIMNREAHER
BEBEHRAABEER -HER
—HEESLBBENNEHENR
REMEREESHRBEEY R
EERFIFENBRERKER
REMEERSEES DESE
SN EHELERSHAE K
BEERES AR

8 i S B - RO ME 77 9 (1A
FE1 IR M 25 & BRI AT 5% AT B
WETHRERKE BN AR
EREmEERENFEERR
BENEBOARIERE-

fa PrEd (B - © MERR AR
s MATETEN A A MDA
BIERNEZ BB KB B
REAABRBFEENAAE A
ZEBCEENGEREREM
EE W RER

meemAn 20205EHs 83



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing on the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statement
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
Directors that makes strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is HKD and majority of
the subsidiaries of the Group operate in Hong
Kong and the PRC whereas their functional
currency are HKD and Renminbi respectively.
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HKD, which is the Company’s and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. For example, translation differences on
non-monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as
equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

2. FESHHERE(#)

2.5 Hhix
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(ii)

mE

HERZIER
AEEASERB W BRERTZHE
TREBERLZEME T ERER
BzER([THEE%])FE - AAQF
MREEE /BT AEENAID
MEARETERTEEEREE
EBDHRETRARE ZEHA
MBBRRTIABTEN BT AR
ARAEEZZ25E -

R 5 K&

SNER TR 5 H %A B AT
MEEBRSHIAE AERBE RIS
K- REXHBEERBRFREXRSR
NN EE 2 B EEERBERSF
REACZEXBREMEEZEXLREBR
REBaHEMEERERARER -

Al

R m

BAREFELINIINEAEZIEER
HEERABEAAEER ZEXRR
B-BArEIRZEERBEZE
BEBRERRAERBN —HO2H -
plan-FEHEEERAR (Pl
AREFEREZEHFT AR ([RA
REFEEESB ABR]) ZBE)
ZHREZHEBRSETEIB/LIAER
oo MEEEEEE (HIW
DRBRANEFEREZEHF AR
feERmcRE) cBhEZRER
i 22 B U 2 FE R

meemAE 20205EHs 85



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FTESTHHRME w0

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies

2.5 HNEBE (&)
(i) EEAF

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(b) income and expenses for each income
statements are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(c) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign
entities on consolidation are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHHEME (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 26 ¥ HERRE

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and 2-5 years
equipment

Leasehold 4 years or over the lease term,
improvement whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 4 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Intangible assets

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”),
or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill
is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
or the group of CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated is compared to the recoverable
amount of the unit, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)

2. FESHHERE(#)

2.7 BEEE (#£)

(ii) Customer relationship and contracts
Customer relationship and contracts acquired
as part of a business combination are
capitalised at fair value separately from goodwill
at acquisition date and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives of one to three years.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use,
are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FTESTHHRME w0

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and financial assets

29 REREMEE

(i) Classification iy o8

The Group classifies its financial assets in the AEBZUTHEENTEeREE

following measurement categories: EITOE:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair e HERKERARE=BHZEHE
value (either through other comprehensive AEMEERSHEZNEHE
income or through profit or loss), and E R

e those to be measured at amortised cost. e KBIRBHEKAHENSMEE-

The classification depends on the entity’s SHEARERERESMEERE 2

business model for managing the financial ME B KMER B ETERL -

assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and REARBEIFENEEMS  El=

losses will be recorded in profit or loss and EEREREZREMEE WY

other comprehensive income. For investments W FEFEEENRRTAREMS -
in equity instruments that are not held for AIBCRA AR EB RS RN ERETT
trading, this will depend on whether the AR EEE BEIKEEERR

Group has made an irrevocable election at the AEFEBEEEHHAEMEERES

time of initial recognition to account for the ([BD2ABEHEBEHSEFT A EMS

equity investment at fair value through other mz]) -

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when REBEREEZSEENEBREN

and only when its business model for managing WERTEHERREETENE-

those assets changes.
(i) Recognition and derecognition (i) WARKLER

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classified its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

2. FESHHERE(#)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
profit or loss. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. For contract assets
and trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 4.1(ii)(c) for further
details.
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29 RERTREE (#)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESTHEHE &)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

210 HEFE M IT A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.11 Trade, retention and other receivables

Trade and retention receivables are amounts due
from customers for service performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade, retention
and other receivables is expected in the one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-currents.

Trade, retention and other receivables are
recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade, retention and
other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHHEME (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Contract assets and contract liabilities

212 EHNEERGNERE

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from
the customer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer.

The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net contract asset or a
net contract liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised
as contract assets if the measure of the remaining
conditional rights to consideration exceed the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the
contract is a liability and recognised as contract
liabilities if consideration received (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer exceeds the
measure of the remaining unsatisfied performance
obligations. In the consolidated statement of
financial position, the contract assets mainly consist
of unbilled work in progress and contract liabilities
mainly consist of receipt in advance from customers.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment
under the same approach adopted for impairment
assessment of trade debtors. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group transfers the
goods or services to the customers and therefore
satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer are capitalised and presented as
contract related assets, if the Group expects to
recover those costs, and are subsequently amortised
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customers of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The Group recognises
an impairment loss in the profit or loss to the extent
that carrying amount of the contract related assets
recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of
consideration that the Group expects to receive
less the costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not been recognised as
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

2. FESHHERE (#)

2IBRERBEEEY

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and
cash equivalents.

2.14 Share capital and shares held under share

award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the
Company’s equity instruments, for example as
the result of a share buy-back or a share-based
payment plan, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to the owners of the Company until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares
are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the
Company.

2.15 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured
and are usually paid within one year or less of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented
as current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHHEME (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Borrowings 2.16 &

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as
finance cost.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is

probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilize those temporary differences and losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

2. FESHHERE(#)

218 BN RIEAEFR 1S B (&)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting dates.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity or paternity leaves are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
which is generally funded through payments
to insurance companies under defined
contribution plan. It pays contributions to
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
Moreover, all the employees of the Group’s
entities incorporated in the PRC participate
in employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare
benefits, organised and administered by the
local governments. The Group has no further
payment obligations once these contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when
the Company has formally announced the
bonus payments to employees.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses. Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any on item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the
sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown, net of discounts and after eliminating
sales with the Group companies. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer
over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

o creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs;
or

U does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforce able right to
payment for performance completed to
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation, by
reference to the contract costs incurred up to
the end of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria
have been met for the Group’s activities
described below:

(a) provision of bare shell fit-out, restacking
and reinstaterment services

Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised over time as the
Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset or work in progress that the
customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced. Thus, the Group satisfies
a performance obligation over time, by
reference to the actual costs incurred as
a percentage of the total estimated costs
for each contract.

(b) rendering of churn works,
maintenance and other services

design,

Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised when the services
were rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R MR

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a
time-proportion basis using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is impaired,
the Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cash flows discounted at original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest
rate.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.22 Leases
The Group has change its accounting policy as
adopted HKFRS 16 “Leases” from 1 April 2019. The
new accounting policy and the impact of the change
is described in Note 3.

2.23 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the final dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders and interim dividends are
approved by the Company’s Board.

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
16 “Leases” on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and discloses the new accounting policies that
have been applied from 1 April 2019 in Note 3(b) below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 “Leases” from 1 April
2019, but has not restated comparatives for 31 March
2019 reporting period, as permitted under the specific
transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications
and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules
are therefore recognised in the opening consolidated
statement of financial position on 1 April 2019.

SHBEEE (&)

REEBH2019F4F 1B B EFENE B Y HREE
BIZE1e5% [HE ] IR EFI2019F3H31H &
25 R A L SR BRIE - 1t T E BN 2 R T A R I K
XEr AR oA BB ERASIEHEN D
N AER2019F4A1B NG A BBk R
HRERR ©

KRB RBMBRELERF 165 [HE]

(a) Adjustments recognised on adoption of (a)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

On adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Group
recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which
had previously been classified as “operating leases”
under the principles of HKAS 17 “Leases”. Leases
liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 4.3% per
annum as of 1 April 2019.

The measurement principles of HKFRS 16 are
only applied after that date. The lease liabilities as
at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the operating lease
commitments as at 31 March 2019 are as follows:

BEANAR
RIRWE BT IEREERE1658 [ E
B AEECHREAMREESSTELSE
17 HREINRASEAIKERE]N
HERRBEAGBR ZSHEABRURE
MEMNZRNREFE THERAERBARE
201954 A1 A K8 = 18 50 F M E4.3% #E 1T
Bh38 -

EAMBREENE16HRMTERNER
ZEHZEER -R2019F481BNHEE
B EER2019F3A3THMN KL H & &IE
HERWT

HKD’000
FHET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as MR2019F3 AT EM L LR EFIE
at 31 March 2019 5,573
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental RAI5E FEF B BB A 18 = 18 30 &=
borrowing rate of at the date of HEITRRIR
initial application 4,353
Less: short-term leases recognised on WA EREBRARERCEHEE
a straight-line basis as expense (57)
Add: adjustments as a result of a different m:-REEEEEEMETTIREERN
treatment of extension options R 2,869
Lease liabilities recognised MA2019F41EER 2 HEAR
as at 1 April 2019 7,165
of which are: Hr:
Current lease liabilities mEHEAE 2,295
Non-current lease liabilities FrBHEAR 4,870
7,165
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. BRBXEE 2

(Continued)
(a) Adjustments recognised on adoption of (a)

RMERMBRELERF 165 [HE]

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The associated right-of-use assets for property
leases were measured at the amount equal to the
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019. There were no
onerous lease contracts that would have required an
adjustment to the right-of-use assets at the date of
initial application.

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the
following types of assets:

BERNARE (£

MERERBZEAREEDRBESENA
EBEMNEBEtE YHN2019F3A31HE
BAMBRAREREREFENTMIE
N HEENTORBETAE - RV
MERBY BEFEEHEANEEY
FREESEETHAE

EHERANEREEERIATEERAIERE:

At 31 March At 1 April

2020 2019

720205 R20194F

3H31H 481H

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FHEIT

Properties LES 4,457 6,948
Equipment B 404 217
Total right-of-use-assets BEREEE 4,861 7,165

Except for the above lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets both increased by HKD7,165,000 recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 1 April 2019, there are no impact to other items of
the consolidated statement of financial position and
retained earnings of the Group as at 1 April 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. B BESE (&)
(Continued)
(a) Adjustments recognised on adoption of (a) KB BH KR EERE165% [ HE]
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) RRERANAE &£)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities and the movements during

AEBFRAREEEREEAENEREEE
B HE 202038318 ILEE RN 2 & 8

the year ended 31 March 2020 are as follows: wm
Right-of-use Lease
assets liabilities
FEREEE HEEE
HKD 000 HKD’000
FHET FHET
At 1 April 2019 R2019%F4B1H 7,165 7,165
Additions NE 305 305
Depreciation e (2,564) -
Interest expense FERX = 318
Lease payments HENK - (2,761)
Exchange difference e Z5 (45) (33)
At 31 March 2020 202043 H31H 4,861 4,994
Analysed for reporting purpose as: ERERBR Z DM
Non-current FETRED 4,861 2,745
Current mE - 2,249
4,861 4,994
The consolidated statement of profit or loss and EBERkEMATEANERBRATEA
other comprehensive income shows the following EE@EMN R
amounts relating to leases:
2020 2019
2020 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Depreciation on right-of-use assets: TREEECTE:
Properties e 2,446 =
Equipment B 118 =
2,564 —
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEaBEZMERX
(included in finance costs) (BREVBHEKLAA) 318 -
Expenses relating to short-term leases CHAER X
(included in administrative expenses) (BREETBRAXA) 51 =
The total cash outflow for leases during the year was FRAMBEER €T L L% 52,812,000%8

HKD2,812,000. T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Adjustments recognised on adoption of
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

In applying HKFRS 16 “Leases” for the first time, the
Group has used the following practical expedients
permitted by the standard:

° the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio
of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

o the accounting for operating leases with a
remaining lease term of less than 12 months as
at 1 April 2019 as short-term leases;

° the exclusion of initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the
date of initial application; and

° the use of hindsight in determining the lease
term where the contract contains options to
extend or terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of
initial application. Instead, for contracts entered
into before the transition date, the Group relied on
its assessment made applying HKAS 17 “Leases”
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease”.

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, and
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of one to five years but some may
have extension options as described in (i) below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. There were no variable lease payments
for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Until the year ended 31 March 2019, leases of
property, plant and equipment were classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor)
were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

108 SANBASE CORPORATION LMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

3. BFHEREE (&)

(a)

(b)

RMERMBRELERF 165 [HE]
RERNFE (#)
REXREREEMBHREERE 165 [H
BN AEEDEAUNTELENHFITNE
REEE:

. HEFARBLUEBOESMEARA
RIS

] 201964 A1 8 FIsa 8 > 7M121E A
MIEEHEZSeTREARTREE:

s HARXRERBHMHEBRNBERKANN
AEEREEE: K&

BHEEERIKRILHENEER
CAEROMAEREEES -

i B

AEBETEEETENFEANEBRE
REMREHEREE AR HREBE
BHEZARILNEH AREEBREEER
FEGHEREITREE] REE (B
MHRERBERES)- 2BFIRIERE
ZHELBEREE ] FHAFMGE-

AEENHEHEEBRATKRG A

AREFEHEZEABRRAE AEREZE -HE
AHBEAIESFHNETHR M5 HE
ETX() MR e HERRTE
BHEES EPREESBIANKIRR
&1 - B 220204 K2019F3A31H ILF &
METSERAE MR-

BEEHE201943A31H I FE ¥ ¥
BREBZHE T EAKEHE-KETH
ENMR(MBEEWREHBEANTERER) N
ERERAEANEEENEGR-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(b) The Group’s leasing activities and how

3. B BESE (&)

(b) XEENHREFTBRAEIIKREE (&)

these are accounted for (Continued)

From 1 April 2019, leases are recognised as a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability
at the date at which the leased asset is available for
use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated
between the lease liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
lease liability for each period. The right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the asset’s lease period on a
straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the fixed
lease payments (including in-substance fixed lease
payments), less any lease incentives receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate
that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
in a similar economic environment with similar terms
and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less.

(i) Extension options
Extension options are included in a number of
property leases across the Group. These terms
are used to maximise operational flexibility in
terms of managing contracts. The majority of
extension options held are exercisable only by
the Group and not by the respective lessor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B %5 ¥R 3R BT &

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board. The Directors identifies and
evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and investing of excess
liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily through
financial instruments that are denominated
in a currency other than the functional
currency in which they are measured.
The functional currency of the PRC
subsidiary is Renminbi (“RMB”), and the
functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The subsidiary of the Group
operate in PRC and their transactions are
denominated in RMB. The Group did not
have other significant exposure to foreign
exchange risk. The Directors considered
that the Group does not have material
foreign exchange exposure.

(b)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks,
the Group does not have significant
interest-bearing assets. Fluctuation of
market rates does not have a significant
impact to the Group’s performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(b)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

The Group’s exposure to changes in
interest rates is mainly attributable to its
borrowings which are at floating rates,
and the Directors are of the opinion that
the Group has minimal exposure to cash
flow interest-rate risk as at 31 March 2020
and 2019.

The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk as the interest rate risk exposure
is not significant.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, contract assets, financial assets at
FVPL, trade and retention receivables, deposits
and other receivables. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts
of these financial assets.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

(@)

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
were mainly deposited with high quality
financial institutions. Therefore, the
Directors do not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these
counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(b)

(©

Credit risk of deposits and other
receivables

Deposits and other receivables were
mainly rental and fit-out deposits, deposit
for acquisition of a subsidiary, refundable
deposits placed to subcontractors
and suppliers and other miscellaneous
receivables. The credit quality of deposits
and other receivables has been assessed
with reference to historical information
about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties.
Given the track record of transaction with
and repayment from these counter-parties
in full, the Directors are of the opinion that
the risk of default by these counterparties
is not significant and does not expect
any losses from non-performance by
the counterparties. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of the deposits and other
receivables is assessed to be immaterial
and no provision was made as at
31 March 2020 and 2019.

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit loss
provision for all contract assets and trade
and retention receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(c)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The contract assets relate
to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same
types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period
of 24 month before 1 April 2019 and the
corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period.

The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

Impairment losses on contract assets
and trade and retention receivables
are presented as impairment losses
on financial assets in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line
item.

4, BIBRBER &)

4.1

MEREBREE (&)
(i) FERR (&)

(c)

BRIBEENARE S RIREZ EK

RETE
AR E
HEH

K ERR (&)

BHEEBR ANEE
5 R AR E & UK BRI
EERRBHL B PRI

DE-BMEBEEYRRARER
T - BEMERAELAGONES

& W 3%

TH A A AR BUR R A R 5

BoHU NEERS EHE

WK IR
EiEx

MBHEEBRESNEE
BEMMEE -

TEHA BT 18 R T A 201944 A
Bz Ai24E B B3R &9 85 & 3

B K
EEE

BEES
BEP&

¥ o

BHE
FKED AL
2 E K
BEE
(el 4 5#

:

K HA ] PO BT A TR ) AR B B
g

BEFUABNRBRPE
HRKHIBR N ARE

BREREWNEMLAEMESR

AR E 5 RARE £ UK
BEEERGaBaLEM
mERTPIEEREENR
CEACHEESENRE
FEAR—TTHE -

rseman 2020FEHRs 113



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4., HIBEARER (&
(Continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 41 BIBREBEZE &)
(i) Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERAK(Z)
(c) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (c) BHEEURESZRREEEWK

KB E R (&)

MA2020%F 201943 A31H M &
BREETWHOT:

and retention receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance as at 31 March 2020
and 2019 was determined as follows:

Trade receivables

ESEWRE
More than More than More than More than
Contract 30 days 60 days 90 days 180 days
assets Current past due past due past due past due Total
bk ki B il
ENEE R BiBIOX HBiB60K HBiBIOK H#iB180K &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
31 March 2020 2020%3H31H
Residential Properties ezt S
Gross carrying amount BREE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Loss allowance BEAE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ~ FEMBEHEEHEER - - - - - 100%
Commercial Properties mRANE
Gross carrying amount BEEE 137,977 59,023 5,008 4,378 1,823 5,683 75,915
Loss allowance EREE 1,018 437 75 177 62 654 1,405
Weighted average lifetime expected FEHMEFHBHEEHEER
credit loss rate 0.7% 0.7% 1.5% 4.0% 3.4% 11.5%
31 March 2019 2019F3A31H
Residential Properties [e2L ) F 5
Gross carrying amount BREA - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Loss allowance BERE - - - - - 1,791 1,791
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ~ FEHMELEEEHREE - - - - - 50%
Commercial Properties BANE
Gross carrying amount BEEE 120,062 97,695 4,857 6,310 3,016 2,679 114,557
Loss allowance BEEE 220 179 31 68 43 82 403
Weighted average lifetime expected FEMMELHBEHEEFER
credit loss rate 0.2% 0.2% 0.6% 1.1% 1.4% 3.1%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

(©

(@)

4, BIBRBER &)

41 BHEKRREZE (&)
(i) EERK (&)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade (c) BHEEUREZRIRELEK
and retention receivables (Continued) HERIEEER (&)
The movement of loss allowances for 720204 K2019A3A31H A 4
contract assets and trade receivables BEMBIRERBFNBERE
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as FEINT
follows:
Contract Trade
assets receivables
EHNEE B ERFRIE
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Loss allowance as R2018F4A1HH
at 1 April 2018 E e B 36 316
Increase in loss allowance RERFPERNEBIE
recognised in profit or loss R AE 3 0 184 3,142
Written off as uncollectible F R EE I E T 8
during the year — (1,264)
Loss allowance as at 31 March R2019F3H31H
2019 and 1 April 2019 K2019F4H1H
B E 1R B 220 2,194
Increase in loss allowance RIERFPEREBIE
recognised in profit or loss R AE 3 0 798 2,793
Loss allowance as at 20203 H31H
31 March 2020 B E R B 1,018 4,987
Trade receivables are written off when B RWRIBERITESIETEEAT
there is no reasonable expectation of T U] B i o I | A IR TR ER A
recovery. Indicators that there is no FhEzBRR2E(EPaIE)
reasonable expectation of recovery BT A AR A B 7K & (B 3 38 SR AT
include, amongst others, the failure of a Sl
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group.
Given that there was no default for ERBTERBURE I REL
retention receivables in the past, the BEEZRBMN2020% K20194F3 A
Directors considered the risk of default of STEHNEWRESMENRR
retention receivables as at 31 March 2020 WAEKR-E EBRRES R
and 2019 is not significant. Therefore, EERHENEHREEEBBXRLT
expected credit loss rate of retention HIRFE-
receivables and hence the loss allowance
is assessed to be close to zero.
Financial assets at FVPL (@) BAILEBEGAEzNZHEE

The Group exposed to credit risk in
relation to debt investments that are
measured at FVPL. As at 31 March 2020,
the maximum exposure of the investment
is the carrying amount of approximately
HKD 7,094,000 (2019: HKD 7,831,000).

AEBASZBEZ AR BETE
BEEFH:FT AZHEZNES
HEBBNEARRE - R20204F
3AB1H KEMZARRKR AKR
H B 47,094,000/ 7T (20194 :
7,831,000 7T ) °

HEEERQE 20206FHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity
will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial
assets.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash
equivalents.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the reporting date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are based on the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances, as the impact of discounting is not

significant.
On demand
or less than
1 years
REXY
-EUTF
HKD'000
FET
At 31 March 2020 #2020£3A31A
Trade payables (Note 23) ERRMR (H#23) 201,835
Accruals and other payables (Note 23) it REMENF
(Hitz3) 2,420
Lease liabilities HEARE 2,469
At 31 March 2019 #2019%3A31A
Trade payables (Note 23) BRERNFK (H223) 203,641
Accruals and other payables (Note 23] st REMER R
(Hite3) 6,282
Bank borrowings (Note 24) RITE (M it24) 12,800

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s net current
asset is HKD128,222,000 (31 March 2019:

HKD114,414,000.00).
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BRRERERE &)
4.1 BIEREBEE (&)
(iii) 7% Eh o E B
MBMEREERENBTURINE
P —EMEENEANFTELZRE
ERHEEE TR -
FEMORDMEREBEAITEAN
RekReEEY-
TRABSTESENSHAEIEEMN
BAEEBANEENRERREZEARE
HAMEREABELSO T TR
BRSBEDNERGHRUBERERE -
HRMREZETTIER - W+Z@A
NE B EHERAREE-
From From Total
1year  2yearsto Over  contractual Carrying
to 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amounts
H-%Z% i - EHEER
mE i REHNE axg REE
HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET
- - - 201,835 201,835
- - - 2,420 2,420
1,744 1,174 - 5,387 4,994
- - - 203,641 203,641
- - - 6,282 6,282
- - - 12,800 12,800

MR2020FE3A31A - AEBNREE
B R B A128,222,0005 7T (201943
HA318 : 114,414,000.00/87T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
4.2 Capital management

4, BIBRBER &)

42 BXEHE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are
sufficient for investing activities including acquisition
of new businesses.

The Group monitors its capital risk based on the
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt
divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated as
total bank borrowing as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

AEENEAERBERAREERELE
BEE N ARBRIBEHE R E AR M N
EREMEANESREESRBURD

REFHAEEARBE AEETAEK
NFRENRESHE ABRREEEALS %
THRRHEEEARDER -

AEERLERPEENRSRAZHAR
REGHBERBEWEHER-

AEEEREERBLRETFEEARRAR -
ZHERRAGRARRUERAEAE -8
ERBREA VIR RAS Z|RITHER
MRt E -

2020 2019
20204 20194

HKD’000 HKD’'000

F#ET FET

Total debt BERRE - 12,800
Total equity B 152,205 136,804
Gearing ratio EEABLE N/A ~E A 9.4%

No gearing ratio is presented as the Group did not
have outstanding debt as at 31 March 2020.

A AR & B 1R2020F3 A31H )2 A Tl &
EENEE WARINEEABLLXR-

HEEERQE 20206FHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4, BIKRAKBERE #£)
(Continued)
4.3 Fair value estimation DN REMEE

The following financial instruments carried at fair
value are categories based on the level of inputs to
valuation techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

Disclosures of the financial assets that is measured
at fair value is set out in Note 16 and are included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the year ended
31 March 2020 and 2019.

There were no transfers of financial assets between
level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate
their carrying amounts.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2020 and
2019.

There were no changes in valuation techniques for
the year ended 31 March 2020.
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ATREAAEAENERTREETHIE
DREEAABERTHABERITHR
AEE - TRIERMWERNT

. HREERAEEEIRTHOBE G
@H%) (E—E) ;

e BRTIFEEFBREMNREIN ZEE
MAEBEBNABRNEmE A ATAR
B (BplanBsg) sk (AR EE%)
(BZE) :

o EBESABIFKREBETERTSHE
A (BIFERTEBmRGA) (=) -

ERAARBEFENEHMEEZEEZESRD
B 31630 20204 K2019F 3 A31H B
ARRBEERE=ZEH-

B E2020F3A31BILFE F1E F2E
HEISENAEBRRIBZBURMBEE
B B R

REHEKATENSREENABNRAA
B EEKREERS -

20204 20193831 H M EH & 7
TEDBEAREFTE -

HE2020F3A31HILEE  HEHRTHME



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. MHEREAKRERE &)
(Continued)
4.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial 44 BHHETHMEERSRAR
liabilities
The following table presents the recognised financial T & 2% R2020F K2019F3A31H E #
instruments that are offset as at 31 March 2020 and REOEHE@MIT A
2019.
Net amounts
Gross amounts presented
set off in the in the
consolidated consolidated
statement statement
Gross of financial of financial
amount position position

REGEME REEHH
RREA  RRRZHIE

HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD 000
FET FET FE&ET

2020 2020F
Financial assets EHEE
Deposits and other receivables B M E MRS 15,209 (3,650) 11,559
Financial liabilities THEE
Trade payables EC A 205,485 (3,650) 201,835
2019 20195
Financial assets EHEE
Deposits and other receivables B M E TR 14,554 (3,650) 10,904
Financial liabilities EHEE
Trade payables ECTANEN 207,291 (3,650) 203,641
Note: o
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, an advance due from a 20204 R2019F3A31H IRIEH A X
sub-contractor is offset against trade payables from the EABBENFBERBEER-—AEANENESE
same sub-contractor pursuant to the sub-contracting TERIE
agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R MR

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

5.1 Critical accounting estimates and

assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the critical judgments, apart from
these involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Construction contracts
The Group reviews and revises the estimates
of contract revenue, contract costs and
variation orders prepared for each construction
contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from
time to time provided by major subcontractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of the management. In order to
keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
management conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have
an impact on the profit recognised in each year.
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5.

A2 &R 5t & H &

et R e mSETE TERBERRRE
HAREZ(BEREBBRTHEHSRKREFNE
EIEHY) o

51 BARETHEFREBR

AEBRARELEERBRR -FBZE
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B ARG EBRREFERN -HE :Hr
BETMETEFEER A NEE &
HERZBEER  HETREZER Hi
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7
e

B AR T (R T30 &GN LAT B 88 5 B
REETEAARSE ST RERBEFRME
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(i) BEEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 5. BREETEFTRAE 2
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

5.1 Critical accounting estimates and 51 BERESHEHREBR (&)

assumptions (Continued)

(i) Impairment losses on financial assets (i) eRMEEREESE
The provision for contract assets and trade EREERE BB 2 BETRE
receivables are based on assumptions about FHEANRBEEHNBEEXR 2 REE
risk of default and expected loss rates. The E-AEBREEZERERNEE
Group uses judgement in making these BEFENBABER BETPA
assumptions and selecting the inputs to ANERGS AEECFELEHNE .
the impairment calculation, based on the WITHMR R & S B R A BT IE 141
customers’ past payment history, the Group’s AmELHE - -EEEEERRTMG
historical default rates, existing market 2 ERMEE4.1 (i) () HEE -

conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details
of management’s credit risk assessment are
disclosed in Note 4.1 (i) (c).

(iii) Estimations in goodwill impairment (iii) HEBREAEFEHOGE

assessment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has AEESFHAPEETREANR
suffered any impairment. For the purposes of REBHNRE BENTRESEEZEAD
impairment reviews, the recoverable amount FEREEKRANNERAEBEREE (N
of goodwill is determined based on the higher RaEdRnE)EFT -AIREmeBEtEX
of fair value less costs of disposal or value FEHFANERERMERE L FH
in use calculations. The recoverable amount MW BEEREAAKENRERE
calculations primarily use cash flow forecast TEORILA K2 TEORI HR 42 o0 fh BT S AR (B (B -

based on financial budgets and forecasts
covering a period of five years approved by
management and estimated terminal value at
the end of the forecast period.

There are a number of assumptions and mEEMNETEEMRENBAANER
estimates involved in the preparation of cash MERALRZEBREAGT -T2
flow forecast for the period covered by the MEBREEEERE LR R KA
approved budgets. Key assumptions include phER. BEEERERMERHEA
the growth rates and discount rates to reflect TFEERBRMESERBHNMBEIE
the risks involved. Management prepares the EREA-RBEREEIPEAN
financial budgets and forecasts reflecting TEBREBEFELHE FERE T2
actual and prior year performance and BRENSBLAEFEBLERSREE
market development expectations. Judgment Al WA M B RERT SR

is required to determine key assumptions
adopted in the cash flow forecast and changes
to key assumptions could affect these cash
flow forecast and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Bare shell fit-out ERXRFERE
Restacking =R
Reinstatement EIR
Design HE

Churn works B T
Maintenance and others RERHEM

The Group’s revenue mainly represents revenue from the
provision of interior fit-out solutions for the year ended
31 March 2020 and 2019.

Revenue generated from bare shell fit-out, restacking and
reinstatement services were recognised over time while
revenue generated from churn works, design, maintenance
and other services were recognised at a point in time for
the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The executive Directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision makers (“CODM”) of the Group who
review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The Group focuses
on provision of interior fit-out solutions in Hong Kong
and the PRC for the year ended 31 March 2020 and
2019. Information reported to the CODM, for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment,
focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole
as the Directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial
statements accordingly. The Group primarily operates in
Hong Kong and started its business in the PRC in May
2018. Revenue generated from customers in the PRC is
also related to the provision of interior fit-out solutions
and the reported geographical segment information is
presented below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

6. WARKSDIER

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
542,037 557,268
58,506 37,598
16,650 34,651
5,531 9,563
13,836 9,587
1,470 1,788
638,030 650,455

REBH £2020F M20195F3A31H IEFEH UK
AT EARBERNEFZRAFTRAAEHWA -

HZE2020F K2019F3AIH L FEHREREE
B H KBRS W E A /IR A THEE B R
RoMATHIRE R REREMREmME
A B WA T AR 1 A8 B R B T R R o

WITEFSCHERAAEBENTIELEAERSE
([EEREREE]) AEFHLEEHRI R
HUFFERBA LD EER - # E20204F %2019
FIHMBLEFE AEEFIREEB LS
RHEARBERATR - BREZTBAEENE
BRABE e HUBEEHEE T HFERE
WHERISELRKRRFHEME MEBLEREK
EERNERAERAEENBELEEE -
EETERBABLEEKIL 52018F5/ EH
FARER - KRERPEEFHIRATEREERR
REMAATREH LEZHHWESHERIIR
N e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WARSHER #)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information i 32 E R
The geographical location of customers is based on EFPHMBUEDNERNRERERENLE -KNEE
the location at which the service provided. The Group’s ZRERANEFEUREERFTH - TREN X
operations and workforce are mainly located in Hong Kong SERENBREFL LA -

and the PRC. The following table provides an analysis of
the Group’s revenue from external customers.

2020 2019
202045 2019%F
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FET
Hong Kong &5 593,950 627,090
The PRC H 44,080 23,365
638,030 650,455
Information about major customers FEEXEFEHR
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the REMAEFRBERABBEI0% WEF I AR
Group’s total revenue are set out below. AR o
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
Customer A ZEEA N/A (Note)
TEA (HE) 102,328
Customer B =FB N/A (Note)
TER (K& 67,069
Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of Bat: MHEBRATBBRAEERBIAZ10% -

the Group's total revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

7. EXPENSES BY NATURE 7. BRHEEBEESHRAX
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 and REBH £20209F M201943 A31H IEFE %
2019 are stated after charging the following cost of sales FILHBRIA T HER A RITHAL % SN 0T :

and administrative expenses:

2020 2019
20205 2019%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FEIT
Subcontracting charges D EER 528,058 537,290
Staff costs (Note 9) BITRA (A7:9) 46,410 39,162
Cleaning expenses BR2EH 8,329 8,148
Insurance expenses RER A X 3,465 3,209
Operating lease payments EERERR - 2,237
Short-term lease payments (Note 3(a)) MER SN (AiF3aE) 51 =
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR 5 I
- Audit service —BZR® 1,250 1,200
- Non-audit service —EBEZIRB 345 345
Depreciation on right-of-use assets TREEEZTE
(Note 3(a)) (Mit3(a)) 2,564 =
Depreciation on property, plant W -BELREZTE
and equipment (Note 13) (#a13) 1,112 891
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) E T EE# S (Kt 14) 208 2,487
Legal and professional fees FENEEBA 5,406 4,814
Other expenses Hth 7 X 8,485 9,636
Total cost of sales and administrative SHE B RAITH R X
expenses 605,683 609,419
Representing: Hrh:
Cost of sales fizR= DN 572,962 579,608
Administrative expenses TR XX 32,721 29,811
605,683 609,419

124 sANBASE CORPORATION LMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

8. FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS) - NET

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included four (2019: three)
Directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note 31(a).
The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one
(2019: two) individuals during the year are as follows:

EARFHE ML
R ARAR AR

Basic salaries and bonuses
Retirement benefits contributions

BBWKA (KA) —FH8

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FHET
Interest income from bank deposits |ITF R B WA 410 60
Bank interest expense RITERZBTANERE
on bank borrowings (49) (127)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBBZAERX
(Note 3(a)) (Kt7#3(a)) (318) -
Unwinding of interests on contingent ERAREBZFENE
consideration payable = (249)
43 (316)
9. STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING ETRX(BEEEME)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e P AN G=1- 44,880 38,179
Retirement benefits contributions IR R 4@ I L 3K 1,530 983
46,410 39,162
Five highest paid individuals hTEEEHFMAL

FRNEAEERAFNSRS 258 AT BIELE
(2019F : 3% ) EF  HFINEME31(@) P M-
FERNDEET1E (2019F 28) AL 2 H B

T

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET
1,567 2,553

18 36

1,585 2,589
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e B R R R MR

9. STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING 9.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emoluments fell within the following bands:

EIRK(BEEEME) (&)

TEEREHMAL (&)
EEMES MR TEER:
Number of individuals

AE
2020 2019
20204 20194
Emolument bands B & %6 &
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001/ 702
1,500,000/ JT - 2
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 &
2,000,000 7T 1 -
1 2
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FTEH A X
2020 2019
2020 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
Current income tax BIEAPTIS
- Hong Kong profits tax —BENEH 4,627 7,896
- PRC enterprise income tax —HEMEMEH 2,065 79
(Over)/under-provision for prior years FF(BREEE) BETR (555) 43
Deferred tax (Note 25) EIETRIE (H7725) 184 (942)
6,321 7,076

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tired profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazette on the following day. Pursuant to the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2 million
of assessable profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HKD2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FRBHEX (2)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of Sanbase Interior
Contracting Limited is calculated at 8.25% (2019: 8.25%)
on the first HKD2 million (2019: HKD2 million) of the
estimated assessable profits and at the rate of 16.5%
(2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits above
HKD2 million (2019: HKD2 million) for the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on enterprise income tax (“EIT”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% (2019: 25%).

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has been
made as the Group had no assessable profit in other
jurisdictions during the year.

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the tax rates applicable to the respective companies of
the Group as follows:

Wt AFEEBMEER AR CBBRNEH IR
BErERF BN E2EE BT (2019F : 2B &
BT ) LA8.25% (20194 : 8.25% ) W B K 51 & -
BiE2E BB T (2019F 28 BB T) MG E
2 M 216.5% (20194F : 16.5% ) B9 § & 51
:g’:o

BEFECEMSHE(EMEBHR]) R
B BEBIES REKMEB AR ZH XK A25%
(2019%F : 25%)

AR B R F R E AL DA R IR EUS BRI
A EL A M AR A PTISTAE B

REERBRBADGEMBBIE - EAREER QAR
AMERMEAENERBEATR #8710
T

2020 2019

20204 20194

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

Profit before income tax R 3% A& A 28,062 37,394
Tax calculated at respective statutory tax rate 1R {E BRI K E MR K&

B % 18 4,465 6,005

Different taxation rate in other country H b B R AR F & 807 71)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes IR X3 67 82

Income not subject to income tax HEARBH A (84) =

Recognition of other temporary difference BREMENEEZR 366 64

Tax loss not recognised FERTIEEE 1,255 953

(Over)/under-provision in prior years FF (RBEEE)
BETRE (555) 43
Income tax expense T8 > 6,321 7,076
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 11. BRER
(a) Basic (a) EXR
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the BRERRF TR E20204F £20194F3
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the RA31BIEFEARRAIHEE AL R T BRI
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue B 217 5 B AR &9 N 15 BUR AR (0 22 @ 5T
less the total number of shares held under share BTN BEGE -
award scheme during the year ended 31 March 2020
and 2019.
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Profit attributable to owners of RRA BB AR EF
the Company (HKD'000) (F#7T) 16,224 28,116
Weighted average number of BT RS ME
ordinary shares in issue less shares FHEUR AR 5 12 E)
held under share award scheme SEIT ARG (FK)
(in thousand) 197,944 199,449
Basic earnings per ordinary share BREBREREF
(HK cents) (EAl) 8.20 14.10
(b) Diluted (b) #8
There were no outstanding share options as at 20205 K2019F3A31H B & W K 1TF
31 March 2020 and 2019 and have no potential CEBRERTEE BT ZBENEELR
dilutive ordinary share in issue. Accordingly, diluted B FHitt SREERFETRERNZTE
earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per B
share.
12. DIVIDEND 12. RE
The Board do not recommend the payment of a final EECTEEREET2020F3A318 IEEE RN
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 whereas RERE -MEEFSDEZLLRETR201949
a final dividend of HK3.1 cents per share, totalling R10HB2#THARGRRBFRE EHERE
HKD6,200,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 Z2019%F3A31A L F EIRN F R 1B R
have been proposed by the Board and approved by AR B - #£516,200,0005 7T

the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 10 September 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % MERRHE

Furniture and Leasehold
equipment improvements  Motor vehicle Total
BRRRE HE#E ] CEil
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2018 R2018%F441A
Cost XA 488 2,106 = 2,594
Accumulated depreciation 25t E (224) (132) = (356)
Net book amount REFE 264 1,974 - 2238
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ2019F3A31ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April RAR1A R REFE 264 1,974 = 2,238
Additions RE 591 = 475 1,066
Acquisition of subsidiaries WHERB LR 134 240 = 374
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEEBR (Mi7) (283) (598) (10) (891)
Exchange difference ERER (4) = - (4)
Net book amount at 31 March RIA3TBEMEEFE 702 1,616 465 2783
At 31 March 2019 R2019%3A31A
Cost %S 1,323 2,463 475 4,261
Accumulated depreciation it E (621) (847) (10) (1,478)
Net book amount REFE 702 1,616 465 2,783
Year ended 31 March 2020 HZ2020563R31RLLEE
Net book amount at 1 April RAR1ARMEREFE 702 1,616 465 2,783
Additions RE 208 317 - 525
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEER (Mi27) (356) (637) (119) (1,112)
Exchange difference BHER (2) - - (2)
Net book amount at 31 March RIA3 B REFE 552 1,296 346 2,194
At 31 March 2020 W2020F3A31H
Cost %N 1,523 2,780 475 4,778
Accumulated depreciation 25t E (971) (1,484) (129) (2,584)
Net book amount BHETE 552 1,296 346 2,194

RE E202063A31H IEFE 491,112,000/ 7T
(20194F : 891,000/ L) MITERA I BT A [1TEK
M-

Depreciation expenses of approximately HKD1,112,000
(2019: HKD891,000) have been charged to “administrative
expenses” for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. B EE
Customer
relationship
Goodwill and contracts Total
EFRER
mE = A&t
HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
FETL FEr FEr
At 1 April 2018 R2018F481H
Cost B - - -
Accumulated amortisation BETE = = -
Net book amount FEFE - - -
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZE2019F3A3MBLEE
Net book amount at 1 April R4A1BREEEFE - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B A A 9,544 2,870 12,414
Amortisation charge (Note 7) BIEER (Wi7) - (2,487) (2,487)
Net book amount at 31 March MN3A31EMEREFE 9,544 383 9,927
At 31 March 2019 72019463H31H
Cost B A 9,544 2,870 12,414
Accumulated amortisation ZETEH - (2,487) (2,487)
Net book amount R FE 9,544 383 9,927
Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z2020F3A31ALEFE
Net book amount at 1 April R4A1BKEREMEFE 9,544 383 9,927
Amortisation charge (Note 7) BIEER (Wi7) - (208) (208)
Net book amount at 31 March MN3A31EMEREFE 9,544 175 9,719
At 31 March 2020 7202063H31H
Cost B A 9,544 2,870 12,414
Accumulated amortisation ZETEH - (2,695) (2,695)
Net book amount REFE 9,544 175 9,719

Amortisation charge of approximately HKD208,000 (2019:
HKD2,487,000) have been charged to “administrative
expenses” for the year ended 31 March 2020.

RE E2020F3A31H IEFE » £208,0007% 7T
(20194 : 2,487,000 70 ) WEE B A B st A 17
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 14. B EE (2)

The Group’s goodwill of HKD6,470,000 (2019: HKD
6,470,000) and HKD3,074,000 (2019: HKD 3,074,000)
were arisen from the acquisitions of Core Group and GZ
Siwu during the year ended 31 March 2019 respectively.
Details please refer Note 15. The Directors considers Core
Group and GZ Siwu as two separate cash generating units
(“CGUs”) and allocates goodwill resulting from the said
acquisitions accordingly.

The Directors reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on financial budget
approved by the Directors covering a five-year period.
Key assumptions used in the calculation includes pre-tax
discount rates ranging from 18% to 22% (2019: 19% to
23%), revenue growth rates 0% (2019: ranging from 0%
to 8%) and gross profit margin ranging from 8% to 20%
(2019: 13% to 17%) for the five-year forecast period. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
the estimated growth rate of 3% (2019: 3%).

The Directors determined the revenue growth rate and
gross profit margin based on past performance of the
CGUs and their expectations for the market development.
The discount rates applied by the Group are rates that
reflect current market assessment of the time value of
money and risk specific to each CGU.

Based on the assessment of the cash flow projections of
the two CGUs, the Directors considered that there is no
impairment of goodwill for the year ended 31 March 2020
and 2019.

Since the carrying amounts of the Group’s CGUs are
not sensitive to the changes in assumption, no security
analysis is disclosed.

NEBZEE6,470,000/8 £ (20194 :
6,470,000/ ) & 3,074,000/ jT (20194 :
3,074,000/ 7T ) 7 Bl = £ B &l £20194F3 H 31
B 15 E A Y8 Core Group N BN HT T - 515 55
28 5215 - 2 F 15 Core Group & GZ Siwuii &
MEBSENReELASU([REELEN])IL
Bltoike FlEBEE CHE-

EE TR ECELENEEERSSRNA
WERICHUNNELAEBRE -FHESELEMMA
WEeHEEEHENREAFTHBENY BIE
EMETE -EMRANERBERRERAFER
HIY F18% Z£22% (20194F : 19% £23% ) 1§
ATBLER R 0% W A K R (2019F : N F0% &
8% M A K E) KN F8% £20% (20194 :
183% E17% )M EFEX-BEAFH2RESTE
BIIER 3% (20195 : 3% ) My stIE R RIEHE -

EEZRBRELBNZBEBERRETSER
EHEETRAEREIRENKR - NEEER 2/
BEDRREKTEHEERRAEERZES
EA B ERROFTMG-

EFEMERcELEEUNRESRENE S5
R EEE2020F M2019F3A31B It FEINER
BiHE-

HRASERSEABN ZRABELTEHRK
RZEBFELHRBRE TEBEEHREIN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 15. ¥ & 6#f
(@) Acquisition of the Core Group Holding (a) Y& Core Group Holding Limited

Limited

On 12 April 2018, the Group acquired 60% equity
interests in Core Group, the subsidiary of which is a
service provider of interior design and interior fit-out
solutions for commercial premises in Hong Kong,
at a consideration of approximately HK$9,771,000.
The acquisition is expected to increase the Group’s
market share.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets
acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Purchase consideration BERE

- Cash paid —-BfEE

— Contingent consideration (i) — R AKAE (i)
Total purchase consideration EERELR

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of
the acquisition are as follows:

M2018F4H 128 - K& B Y i Core Group
(EffE ARl R—HMBEEEAMEZTARNRE
RENLZEBIFRIRBEHER) B960% %
- RE A9, 771,000 7T - sz W B F 18
TEET A N AREE TS DR -

BERE FUEBEEEFELBESEN
T

HKD’000
FET
6,012

3,759

9,771

HRETREMRIENEERBENAT

Fair value

AREE

HKD’000

FET

Property, plant and equipment Y- B R EE 283
Intangible assets mEAE 2,647
Trade and retention Receivables B ZREWHRIERERRES 6,783
Deposits, other receivables, and prepayments B B U RIE R IE RIE 2,568
Contract assets EHEE 10,053
Cash and cash equivalents BeMkIReEEYD 11,691
Trade payables =Y ANk s (15,345)
Accruals and other payables FEETIE B K E R 5UE (7,042)
Contract liabilities aHAE (3,987)
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTIS T B 1E (1,713)
Deferred tax liabilities REFHIBEEE (437)
Net identifiable assets acquired BRI B E R 5,501
Less: non-controlling interests R FEFE I = (2,200)
Add: goodwill m.Ee 6,470
9,771
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

15. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 15. £ &8 6t (&)
(@) Acquisition of the Core Group Holding (a) Y& Core Group Holding Limited
Limited (Continued) (#&)
The goodwill is attributable to Core Group’s strong BN Core Group EE AR TIHH
position and profitability in interior design market T2 E A & & BE 1 - DA TR AN & 1 U Y
and synergies expected to arise after the Group's BARIBEBEANBRKE - FEHAA
acquisition of the subsidiary. None of the goodwill is EATAI N -
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
() Contingent consideration (i) HARE
The contingent consideration arrangement S ARE LB ERAE B R201943
requires the Group to pay the former owner of A ™ Core Group BRI #E B A 481K
the Core Group 40% of the total consideration B #40% (493,759,000/8 7t) ° #% 1+
amounted to approximately HK$3,759,000 in AR T Core Group B & E M B 2 &R
March 2019. The payment is contingent on HZE2018F12A31B L FEMELEM
the result of the operating subsidiary of the FoZREHRREBEDIRAKKER
Core Group for the year ended 31 December RenEMREMGTSE
2018. The fair value of such consideration is
estimated calculating the present value of future
expected cash flow.
(i) Revenue and result contribution (i) WAREZESEH
The acquisition of Core Group contributed BB B RE E2019F 3 H31
revenue of approximately HK$179,057,000 and H U Core Group B Bt g A 4
profit of approximately HK$8,145,000 since the 179,057,000/ 7t & #) JH 498,145,000
date of acquisition to 31 March 2019. Revenue I > Core Group B2018%F4A1H =
and profit of Core Group from 1 April 2018 to 2018F4H12B 2 WA R FI BB T &
12 April 2018 were not significant. Ko
(iii) Acquisition related cost (iii) Uk B AR BB A AR
Acquisition-related cost were not significant and WEREKABITEXABEEFFAER
have been included in administrative expenses MITBRAZRBESRERNEEE S
in the profit or loss and in operating cash flow ME o
in the statement of cash flows.
(iv) Purchase consideration - net cash inflow (iv) BERE-—BRERAZFE
HKD’'000
FHET
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, WHEM B AR MRS M -
net of cash acquired FIEmIR & /558
Cash Consideration BeERE (6,012)
Less: Cash acquired B WERRSzRe 11,691
Net inflow of cash — investing activities RERANFE—IKETE 5,679
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R MR

15. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
(b) Acquisition of the Guangzhou Siwu

On 8 May 2018, the Group acquired 65% equity
interests in Siwu Guangzhou, a service provider
of interior design and interior fit-out solutions for
commercial premises in the PRC, for consideration
of approximately RMB2,401,000 (approximately
HK$2,958,000). The acquisition is expected to
increase the Group’s market share.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets
acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Purchase consideration BERE
Cash paid BfEE

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of
the acquisition are as follows:

15. ¥ &6 »)
(b) Y B& Siwu Architectural

(Guangzhou) Limited
M2018F5A8H A& B W Siwu
Guangzhou (R EIE AW EEZEANRTRE

RERATERBHEER) K65 %Mk -
REAEHARE2 401,0007T (42,958,000
BIL) c Z W EIRB I NAEE TS
Gk

BERE FUEEEFELBESER
T

HKD’000
FET

2,958

RMANETHEMERINEERBENT

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Trade and retention receivables
Contract assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables

Accruals and other payables
Contract liabilities

Inventories

Deferred tax liabilities

Net identifiable assets acquired
Add: non-controlling interests
Add: goodwill
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Fair value

AREE

HKD’000

FET

Y% Wz MEE 91
BEEE 223
B ZEWHIBRERRES 3,113
ABREE 3,768
HRekReEEY 1,010
g 5N RIA (5,182)
FEETIE B K& E fih BT 5RIE (3,206)
AHEaE (680)
IEN=Y 741
EER I A E (56)
BB R E R EEFE (178)
ho: FEIE AR AE RS 62
hn: e 3,074
2,958



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R M

15. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 15. ¥ 56t (»2)
(b) Acquisition of the Guangzhou Siwu (b) 4 BE Siwu Architectural
(Continued) (Guangzhou) Limited (#&)

The goodwill is attributable to Siwu Guangzhou’s
strong position and profitability in interior design
market and synergies expected to arise after the
Group’s acquisition of the subsidiary. None of
the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.

(i) Revenue and result contribution
The contribution of revenue and result from the
acquisition of Siwu Guangzhou is not significant
to the Group for the year ended 31 March
2019.

(ii) Acquisition related cost
Acquisition-related cost was not significant and
have been included in administrative expenses
in the profit or loss and in operating cash flow
in the statement of cash flows.

(iii) Purchase consideration — net cash inflow

22 5% B 72 Siwu Guangzhou £ E MR &t
SHBEMA RAFE D URAEEBK
M B A R 1& T8 B E A B 1 [ R FE - T8 A
FTERMERTAIIF -

() WAREEER
RE E2019F3A31BILLFE - WiE
Siwu Guangzhou E 4 Z WA K& ¥4
EREHAEEmMEETEKN

(i) WEEAERERAE
WIEHBKABITEREEAEBS
MITHAXRBEERERNEERE

= =
NLE °

(i) BERE-—HREARHLFEE

HKD’000
FAET
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, WENB MRS R FTEEHN
net of cash acquired REFH
Cash Consideration HeRE 2,958
Less: Cash acquired B FTERRE (1,010
Less: prepaid during the year ended 2018 A K
31 March 2018 (1,218)
Net outflow of cash — investing activities ReRLFE—RETE 730
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
The Group classifies the debt investments that do not
qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI,
at FVPL. Financial assets measured at FVPL include the

following:

Non-current assets ERBEE
Unlisted debt investments IEEMEBEKE
At 1 April R4A1H
Addition 0

Fair value changes R EEE

At 31 March M3HA31H

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s unlisted debt
investment of HKD7,094,000 (2019:HKD7,831,000)
represented debt instrument in an unlisted fund with
limited liability incorporated in Cayman Islands.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s unlisted

debt investment is measured at fair value and were
denominated in United States dollars (‘US$”).
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16. RAAEFEREHBBHFABEREN

AEEBATERBHEXNAXEAAEFER
HEHFAHEMEZAREXEAAEBFERLE
BHtABR (RAREAEREZEHTAER)
MEBREETOR -ROABEFHEBRREEH
ABENEREEBREATERA:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
7,094 7,831
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
7,831 =

= 7,831

(737) =
7,094 7,831

M2020F3H31BE "AEBWIELTEBEKRE S
7,094,000/ 7t (20194 : 7,831,000/ 7T ) + Jh A
AERSdMRIBEWNEEREENIELTE
SHEB TR

R20204F 201943 A31H  REEMIF FHIE
BIREBTARARBEAAERUERT ([ER])HE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 17. R ERE S sHEMI A
CATEGORY
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEEBFBUTEMIA:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET T

Assets as per consolidated statement of REMBRRRAREE
financial position

Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ENSREE
- Trade and retention receivables (Note 18) - ESRRESBUGK (HiF18) 75,556 122,136
- Deposits and other receivables (Note 20) —%Re REMEWK (Fi20) 11,559 10,904
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) -RekBEEEY (Hat21) 120,321 106,009
207,436 239,049
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 16) BRARBEAEREZSHAA
BaRNEemEE (#it16) 7,094 7,831
Total =X 214,530 246,880
Liabilities as per consolidated REMBERRRFIREE
statement of financial position
Financial liabilities measured REEKATFENEREE:
at amortised costs:
- Trade payables (Note 23) —EZERMR(Hi7F23) 201,835 203,641
— Accruals and other payables (Note 23) —ERT R E b AT 5K (A72£23) 2,420 6,282
- Bank borrowing (Note 24) —IRITIER (K7 it24) - 12,800
- Lease liabilities (Note 3(a)) —-HEAE (WMWit3@) 4,994 =
Total &5t 209,249 222,723
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18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B 5 EW SR
Less: provision for impairment of

trade receivables

Trade receivables — net BRI —F8E

R B & & K

Retention receivables

Trade and retention receivables — net & 5 N 1R E 4 &Yk —

Trade and retention receivables balances are categorised
as “financial assets measured at amortised cost”. The
maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2020 and
2019 was the carrying value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group did not hold any collateral
as security. The carrying amounts of trade and retention
receivables approximate their fair values. The trade and
retention receivables were mainly denominated in HKD
and RMB.

(@) The credit terms granted to its customers were
generally 30 days from the invoice date except for
the amount relating to retention money which is
payable after 1 year from the date of completion
of the works. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the
invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 30BN

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61290H
91 to 180 days 912180H
Over 180 days 180H M £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

18. E 5 R xR B & B

2020 2019
20205 20194
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
Jiokza FET FET
(a) 79,497 118,139
(4,987) (2,194)
74,510 115,945
(b) 1,046 6,191
SFEB 75,556 122,136

ZHMRESERRGERSEA [IREHKAR
HENESREE] - 20204 K20195FE3H318 -
LS ERZNEeEERREEREE: K&
SEVESEEANERAMEAER -BEH RRE
CREFZEMENEEAABEEE - EHRR
B ERAETEABTRARBE-

() XEEBRFEREFNEESR—RAERE
BEIEE30R  FTEREIRTK B HE1E
2 FERHRE € 5B - R20204F &20194F3 A
31 REZHHRINE FHERR 2K
AT

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
50,678 79,950
8,709 17,781
2,553 4,821
5,409 9,326
12,148 6,261
79,497 118,139




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment assessment on financial
assets subject to expected credit loss
model

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9.
The basis of determining the inputs and assumptions
and the estimation techniques in this consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 are set out in Note 4.1(ii)(c). Details
of impairment assessment on financial assets subject
to expected credit loss model are set out as below.

During the year, the Group provided HKD2,793,000
(2019: HKD3,142,000) and HKD798,000 (2019:
HKD184,000) impairment allowance to trade
receivables and contract assets respectively, were
classified as “financial assets measured at amortised
cost”.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the ageing analysis
of the retention receivables based on the invoice
date was as follows:

Within 30 days 308 A

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61£E90H
91 to 180 days 91£E180H
Over 180 days 180H M £

Movement on the Group’s provision for impairment
of trade and retention receivables are detailed in
Note 4.1(ii)(c).

18. ES R REIEEWR (&)

(b)

(c)

RERSEEEARANSRARE
T RERE N

REBRAGEAEZRHEEEMBHREE
RO AT T M TEHA(E B 518 - L E2020
F N2019F3A31H I FE WA B %R
EPNETH ABENARRE MG FE
B B EE N B 5E 4.1 (i) (c) - TE B B S 1B R
A THeREERBET G ZFBHINAT -

FRN - AEEHDEAREHEXNATED
CMEECESIRBAREGNEED R
=T 4% R (B B 52,793,000 7T (20194 -
3,142,000/ 7t ) %798,0007 7T (20194 :
184,000 7T ) °

R2020%F NM2019F3A31H LB ERHH 2
FIERE & R Z BREBE T T

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FAET
160 1,245

45 =

414 -

427 4,946
1,046 6,191

A& B Bt E 5 R WKIA & e R B £ 1
R 1 7% 5 B 2 B R A MY R4 1 () (o)

nseman 2020FEHs 139
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A YRR M

19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

19. BHNEERERE

2020 2019

20205 20194

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

Contract assets (Note (i) BREE (WE0) 137,977 120,062

Less: impairment loss (Note 4. 1(ii)(c)) W OREEE (MaE4.10)(c)) (1,018) (220)

136,959 119,842

Contract liabilities (Note (i) EHE’E (W) (5,656) (18,729)
Notes: Bz -

i)

a)

b)

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, contract assets related to
construction services consist of unbilled amount resulting
from construction when the cost-to-cost method of revenue
recognised exceeds the amount billed to the customer.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, contract liabilities
recognised represented the progress billings received in
excess of construction works performed and the advance
payment made by customers.

Revenue recognised in relation to
contract liabilities

Revenue recognised that was included in the
contract liability balance at the beginning of the year
amounted to approximately HKD18,729,000 (2019:
HKD525,000). There was no revenue recognised
from performance obligations satisfied in previous
years during the year ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

Unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2020
Aggregate amount of the transaction price
allocated to service contracts that are partially or
fully unsatisfied as at 31 March 2020 amounted
to approximately HKD50,448,000 (2019:
HKD163,544,000)
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i) 20204 &2019F3A31H HEERBEE B
AWEED S HBER ARAEMERN WA
BBREFPRRNSEMEENRAAEZESE-

i) 20209 R2019F3A31H EHRWANER
DHEEREEREBBOERNZEETIRRE
FEffsR-

(a) HENRERANCSEIBA

REFNFTAEGHNEBEHRENE EBRIEA
#) /18,729,000 7T (20194 . 525,000/
JC) c R E Z20204F K20194F3A31H L F
ERA BERBTIFECBRTRAOELM
R A -

(b) M2020F3H31HKEBITEHN
MR2020F3A31H D EZREA 40
BREBABITHNRZERBRBOR
50,448,000/ 7T (20194 : 163,544,000/
JL) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

20. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. ##Z & - Hitt B R FE{F R
PREPAYMENTS

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FAET
Deposits for acquisition of a subsidiary WEWNBRRzZE® (HMita))

(Note (a)) 1,275 -
Deposits me 5,064 6,403
Advance to a sub-contractor BNz TSEE N 2,560 2,714
Other receivables E e 3R 2,660 1,787
Financial assets TREE 11,559 10,904
Prepayment AR 2,301 2,141

13,860 13,045
Less: non-current portion of deposits and B Ee RENTN
prepayments JEBNEREF (2,595) (1,400)
Current portion BOER (& 11,265 11,645
Note (a) Bt 3F (a)
The balance represents the deposit of HKD1,275,000 paid ZEBRREUBIE=ZFTNBEEBLYEAR
to certain independent third parties for the acquisition AR(BEQARAERAZF =X ES
of Yu Rong Capital Limited (“Yu Rong”) (the “Target 1,275,000/ 7T - Z W FF 15 B2 M 5235 °
Company”). Further detail of this acquisition are set out
Note 35.
Except for prepayment of HKD2,301,000 (31 March B 78 1+t 3 182,301,000 7T (20194 3A31H :
2019: HKD2,141,000), deposits and other receivables are 2,141,000 )N e R EMmEIRZE AR
financial assets categorised as those to be measured at RIZEHEKNAFTENEREE-AEEZ KRS
amortised costs. The fair values of the Group’s deposits, Hi g RIEM RO AR EEERRERS -
other receivables and prepayments approximate their
carrying amounts.
The deposits, other receivables and prepayments were Be HEtBERREMRDIEATEEFE:
denominated in the following currencies:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FHET
HKD BT 12,066 11,012
RMB AR 1,794 2,033
Total A&t 13,860 13,045
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. BERBEZEEY
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAET
Cash at bank and on hand RITEHRLEFEES
- Cash at call —R1T4 120,180 105,883
— Cash on hand —FHERE 141 126
120,321 106,009
Maximum exposure to credit risk == = B R 120,180 105,883
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following ReRRITEBRZUTEEE:
currencies:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
HKD BT 116,505 103,855
RMB AR 2,912 2,154
Others EA 904 -
Total &t 120,321 106,009

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD 22. RAR KR4 RBEE AR A
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(a) Share capital (a) B
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
ZRMEAE H{E
(in thousand) HKD’000
(FA&) FET
Authorised shares capital: ETERA
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 201854 H1H - 20193 H318 -
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 2019F4 A18 Kk20204F3A31H 5,000,000 39,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER:
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, R2018%F4H1H 201943 A31H »
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 2019F 4 418 Kk2020%F3A31H 200,000 1,553
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A YRR

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)
(b) Share award scheme

22. BARBHBEBTETHRERS (&)

(b) B 7 52 B =t &

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the
adoption of a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) with the objective to provide eligible
persons with additional incentive to encourage and
retain them to work with the company. Core Trust
Company Limited (the “Trustee”) was designated to
be the trustee under the deed of trust executed on
19 November 2018.

Pursuant to the rules relating to the Share Award
Scheme (“Scheme Rules”), shares are comprised of
the Trustee out of cash arranged to be paid by the
Company out of the Company’s funds to the Trustee
and be held on trust for the relevant eligible grantees
until such shares are vested with the relevant eligible
grantees in accordance with the Scheme Rules
(“Restricted Shares”). The Board implements the
Share Award Scheme in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme Rules including providing necessary
funds to the Trustee to purchase or subscribe for
shares up to 8% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from
time to time, at their absolute discretion select the
eligible grantees after taking into account various
factors as they deem appropriate for participation
in the Share Award Scheme as a grantee and
determines the number of Shares to be awarded.
The Board shall cause to pay the Trustee the
purchase price and the related expenses from the
Company'’s resources for the shares to be purchased
by the Trustee.

R2018F10816H EESE HAEFMK
DB E ([RDEEEE]) BEEREF
AEBATYMESIREEINMER A
BEREBFEENRARTIE-EFETER
AR ([ZFEAL)BIE2018F11 A19B %L
MEERBEWHIEEAXTAC

RIBR A B A SRR B (TEHEIRANT) -
BPBRARBDLFREES R RBRIAR
EXNEAABENRND REERN R
BTHEBEERARAMRETERAG
ERAERARANGEEFTBENZSFRD
(IZEHEMD]) -EFEREEH AW
FRARBETRGEEFE BRAXEAR
HrFES UBEARBRZMHEART
P B BITIRAN8% Z B th

REFERN EFSTIHREBHE
BRELEERRERAZERN ZREH
TRAREREEERARA TEE KR
HZBROBE - BEETREARZTEARNKE
AZBEMD ARBZERAZFEAZNE
ANEREBEER-
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22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)

(b) Share award scheme (Continued)
The Trustee shall hold such Shares on trust for the
eligible grantees until they are vested. When the
relevant eligible grantee has satisfied all vesting
conditions specified by the Board at the time of
making the award and become entitled to the
Restricted Shares, the Trustee shall transfer the
relevant Shares to that grantee.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019,
no shares have been awarded to employees.

Shares held under share award
schemes

22. BARBHBEBFTETHRERS ()

(b)

2020
20205
Shares

B

2,056,000

WD RB T & (&)
EAABAEETIAREGEBRARAREA
HERD BEERFERB -FHBESER
ERNEREFERNFLERBREEL
— U RBIRT SEEESRBIERD 2
REABERZA BN THEERA

RE Z2020F K2019F3A31B IEFE - #
EREERIKRG -

2019 2020 2019
20194 20205 2019%
Shares HK$’000 HK$'000

R FET FET

2,056,000 2,998 2,998

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables =Y EaEN

Consideration payable for acquisition of ERWERB AR 2K
a subsidiary

Accruals and other payables FEET % H & - 5K
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23. EZREMENAR

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
F BT FETT
201,835 203,641
= 4,008

3,046 2,630
3,046 6,638
204,881 210,279
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

23. ESRHEMENSK &)

24,

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the aging analysis of the
trade payables based on invoice date was as follows:

MN20204 K2019E3A31H  IREZ A A2 H
EHENRZEREDITOT

2020 2019
20204 20194

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

Within 30 days 30H R 134,244 151,250
31 to 60 days 31%60H 14,998 6,060
61 to 90 days 61Z90H 15,468 9,682
91 to 180 days 91E180H 17,254 18,299
Over 180 days 1808 M + 19,871 18,350
201,835 203,641

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the fair values of trade

R20204F K2019%3A31H B 5 R E M ET X

and other payables approximate their carrying amounts WARBENEAREEMS IR TEEE:
and were denominated in the following currencies.

2020 2019

2020F 20194

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FHET

HKD BT 193,386 200,454

RMB AR 11,495 9,825

204,881 210,279

BANK BORROWINGS

Bank borrowing — unsecured

As at 31 March 2019, the effective interest rate per annum
were 3.2% per annum and repayable within one year. The
carrying amount of bank borrowing was denominated in
HKD and the fair values of bank borrowings approximate
their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

24. RITER

2020 2019
20204 20194

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

RITIE TR — K - 12,800

MR2019F3A31H M BB F Fl X A£3.2% B AR
FREZE - AREENFZERN WERTERD
EAEEERNREMEE L AETETE.
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24,

25.

B B AR YR

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)
As at 31 March 2020, the Group do not have any
outstanding bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had total borrowing
facilities of approximately HKD20,050,000 (2019:
HKD57,250,000) granted by bank which are subject to
annual renewal.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rate
enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of
financial position dated.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes related to the same taxation authority.

24,

25.

WITER (&)
RE E2020F3A31B ILFE KREBET MK
EENRTEE-

RE E2020F3A31BIEFE AEEH AR
TR TR 1T ELE #£920,050,00078 7T (2019:
57,250,000 L) , ERMEBAERTFEEESE
E‘.ﬁo

EEFR 1S B
BEEMBBDRAAMERE R ETRY
MRERNEEAC BRI B 2B RHE -

BELEFMSEHEERABERAAENYPREEER
BIMMBREEREAZENEMEEHERETHME
AR — BB HEREE BT - A BRI

2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
Deferred tax assets EERIREE 294 515
Deferred tax liabilities REFEE (29) (66)
Deferred tax assets — net RERIEEE OF5) 265 449
The net movements in the deferred income tax account BIEFMSHRBEZFEEHNT
are as follows:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
At 1 April w4 /18 449 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries W HE BT /B 1~ &) - (493)
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss FAREEER (51X) /Hk
for the year (Note 10) (Htiz10) (184) 942
At 31 March MR3H31H 265 449
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25. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 25. IEEFR B H (&)
The movements in deferred income tax assets and BEMSMEERBE (KHER —REER 2B
liabilities (prior to offsetting of balance within the same tax BESADRNFRZEZEHWT :

jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets: BIEMEHEE:
Provisions Tax losses Total
B BB &t
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
20205 2019F 2020 2019%F 2020F 20195
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April ®4A18 398 - 240 - 638 -
(Charged)/credited to profit or & AR B BRIk
loss for the year (Note 10) (H#10) (20) 398 (240) 240 (260) 638
At 31 March W3A31AH 378 398 - 240 378 638
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible MBI R B BARRERTR N ERFERIBAES
temporary differences to the extent that the realisation At AT R E R I = R ERIBEEFI S EE -
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is
probable.
As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not recognise 202053 A31H » 7N 5 B I K 3t AT MR (R AR 4% 4%
deferred income tax assets of HKD2,208,000 (2019: B /&5 4813,382,000/% 7T (2019 : 5,773,0007%
HKD953,000) in respect of losses HKD13,382,000 (2019: 7T ) W R IE IE P 15 A & E2,208,000% 7T (2019
HKDS5,773,000) that can be carried forward indefinitely. F : 953,000/ 7T ) °
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFBHAE:

Accelerated tax depreciation

and amortisation Intangible assets Total

MERERERBH EWEE Ait
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
2020 20195 20204 2019% 20204 20195
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FHET FET FHET FET FHET
At 1 April W4R1H (123) - (66) - (189) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENRB A - S = (493) > (493)

Charged/(credited) to profit or ~ FRREZETIT,/

loss for the year (Note 10) (fgR) (Hzt10) 39 (123) 37 427 76 304
At 31 March R3A31H (84) (123) (29) (66) (113) (189)
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25.

26.

B B AR YR

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate of 5%
is applied to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty
rate is not automatically granted. The taxpayer needs to
apply to the relevant tax bureau for an approval for the
treaty rate. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by the subsidiary
established in the PRC. As at 31 March 2020, deferred
income tax liabilities of approximately HKD486,000
(2019: Nil) has not been recognised for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the remittance of earnings
of the PRC subsidiary. The related unremitted earnings
amounted to approximately HKD4,864,000 as at 31 March
2020 (2019: Nil), and the Group does not intend to remit
these unremitted earnings from the relevant subsidiary to
the Company in the foreseeable future.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
Related parties are those parties that have the ability to
control, jointly control or exert significant influence over the
other party in holding power over the investee; exposure,
or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee; and the ability to use its power over the investee
to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control or joint control. Related parties may be
individuals or other entities.

The following is a summary of the significant transactions
carried out between the Group and its related parties in
the ordinary course of business during the year ended
31 March 2020 and 2019.

Compensation of key management

Key management includes executives of the Group. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for
employee services is shown below:

Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Retirement benefits contributions
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25.

26.

¥re o fEAL KRR
RARAE I 5K

EERESH (&)
BERBRCEMSHE RPBRKZAIINE B
MR EES RO EEBMI0% BT - &
REBEREEEFINREHE WPECERE
BREGLESIKBRE AT ZEREEMNH L%
B - BZ5% B ERRLIEEHES AHEAS
MEBETERBHEBMEZTERBHE Bt
AEBBERAPBEKIIHNE QR D IRGKE
BpEAR- N T _EF=-_A=Z+—H A&
BYA#FREMNBARELEFAELFNEN
5 HE 3R 49486,000 (20194 : & ) HRIEFFS T &
E- RN _ZE_EF=-A=+—0 HERELE
FI %) 54,864,000 (20194 : )  KEBTH R
ARAREZEXREBHEENBARMNKREL A
FIEHEARAF -

Bt RS

B E AR DR BARHBERRET B
BN S - IR AHEELEEATENNAL:
AAESAZAEBHESERKREST BRI ZE
B ERHEMOAL: RAMBEERRES
MENZEREENRSENA L. ZHFZH
BEEFNOALTIRRSEREE. BES AR
BEASHMERE-

T 3O At A £ B B E BE B 5 B £20204F 2019
FIAMHILFEEBRERBBRRETNERKX

%5

TEEEASHM
TEEBRABREAKETHRAER BB R
ENHENEEEEABNFMBTAR:

2020 2019
20204F 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FETT FET
7,509 6,205

65 57

7,574 6,262
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27.

28.

B B 5 AR MY R

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had the following contingent liabilities not
provided:

Surety bonds B 4 IR7&
As at 31 March 2020, the Group provided guarantees
of surety bonds in respect of 4 (31 March 2019: 3)
construction contract(s) of the Group in its ordinary
course of business. The surety bonds are expected to be
released in accordance with the terms of the respective
construction contracts.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is
subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of
compensating them through the grant of options for their
contribution to the growth and profits of the Group, and
to allow such employees, Directors and other persons to
participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme
include directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive Directors) and employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any other person who in the absolute
discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute
to the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 20,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

27.

28.

XEEE
AEEARELBEEOREAENT

2020 2019
20204F 20194
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FETT
7,084 8,809

M2020%3A31R A& B ERASEEB BT XK
BIEP R4 (201938318 :3) MR A HIRH
BHORFBER ZZBEOREENBRESESE
A BRI R R B o

BRERE

R2017512A8H » A2 AR 44 19 B A4 5 8149
BGEM EMRAIE23FEB TR ENEE LA
BTRZERT BRESESERS BB RH
BEE ESkHEM2EE WEBROBRE
RSB AEBEROEMIEH TR A KE
ZEREE BERHMALISDZAEENERR

BA -

BREGINAGERZEZERRAQARRAL
AMBARMNER(BEATES FATES
RBUFFNTES) REE (TwEBERE) X
Exe2RBBERYAKREEFHAKFEL
BRWEMEMAL

BEBREFEBSTFREEOMBEREETE
i A] 3% 17 B9 A% {9 42 1 520,000,0000% » 16 A 2N 4
RMAPAQRREHEBHTRALI0% -
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share
Option Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a
consideration of HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the
options granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme
has been set out in the section headed “E. Share Option
Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus.

No share options have been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption and up to the date of
this annual report.
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28. B HESTE (&)

RAEM12(8 A BE - REBREASTER T X
BETEEBATHNBRE (BEETE 2F
3 NRORITE R B RCHE ) 31T R fS T BITH ARG
REBETFBEEEBEITHROMNI% -

REBREFIREBERENENEARAX
MIETRERKER-

BRI N2017F12 AR BH T FRN B
AEREZEBERRETERR TF - BREARE

EERMBEECNHERE HEAETEMNE
AR ROISORRERE °

BEREAETERENTEEREFTSETE B
TRERATESEONRNRELBH (LAR
LERA)EBIAE R RERAIROBRMDKHE:
(RERRLBMATAEEXRAEBIAEA
WE PRI FHUTE R (i) R EE -

BTS2 R EH N BB &M [E. 1B
PegatEl ] —&he

ERREGFERRAEEAFRAY HERE
B AR BRI A B A
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29. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 20. T EMBARIZFHTE
SUBSIDIARIES
Issued and fully paid Ownership interest held
share capital/registered by the Group %
Place of incorporation and  and paid-up capital ARBEANERRRL %
Name of subsidiaries kind of legal entity EREARBRRE/ 2020 2019 Principal activities
WEATEH EMRIBEREEEREN ARRAZRAE 2020 20195 FEEH
Indirectly held subsidiaries
BEEENEAR
Sanbase Contracting (Engineering) Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000 100% 100% Interior fit-out solutions provider
EE BRAA 10,000% 7T REZNEERRATZR
Sanbase Interior Contracting Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000 100% 100% Interior fit-out solutions provider
ANELERAF Bk ARAF 10,000/ 7 REENEERANE
Siwu Architectural (Guangzhou) Limited PRC, limited liability RMB1,500,000 65% 65% Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
BEMHRRERFARDA HE FRAA AR #1,500,0007 Rt ERRERATRMERS
Studio 5 International Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000 60% 60% Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
BRERAA BB ARRA 10,0007 7 Rt ERRERAARAERS
Controlled structured entity
THHERER
Sanbase Management Limited BV, limited liability US$1 100% 100% Purchase, administers and holds the
Company's shares for share award
scheme
EBENHS BROA £ BE ERREBANTMREN LR
ik
The Group has the power to direct the relevant activities KX ) A HEEYE Sanbase Management Limited
of Sanbase Management Limited and it has ability to use ZIEBER B NERYEEEE BT
its power over the entity to affect its exposure to returns. GHEPGEAR A EHEBESAREERE
Therefore, it is considered as controlled structured entity R HEETRE-

of the Group.
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 30. AT BEMRRRRREREEH

AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

152 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED  ANINUAL REPORT 2020

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) &2 38 #R R T
Company
2020 2019
2020%F 20194
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
iz FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in a subsidiary and R—EMBAR RZIEH&EE
a controlled structured entity BER2EDR 29 38,064 38,064
Financial asset at fair value through EAREBEFABZZ EREE
profit or loss 7,094 7,831
Deposits and prepayments & REMAR 1,275 =
46,433 45,895
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, other receivables and T~ Hh U R T8 5K
prepayments 3,488 655
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al NGIE 5,658 9,800
Cash and cash equivalents HeNREEEY 60,796 46,308
..B9942 56,763
Total assets wWEE 116,375 102,658
EQUITY E
Equity attributable to the owners XA FEE AEGER
of the Company
Share capital fig AR 1,553 1,553
Share premium &5 4% B 57,632 63,832
Other reserve Hhf#E 34,986 34,986
Accumulated losses RETEE (18,583) (17,303)
Total equity R 75,588 83,068
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REBAEE
Accruals and other payables FET B E Ath FE S 3R 979 326
Amounts due to subsidiaries VAL EENGIE 39,808 19,264
Total liabilities weE B ____4(_)17_87 _______ 1 9,590
Total equity and liabilities HERREE 116,375 102,658




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

30. AR A BERRARRBESLE &)

(b) Movement in the Company’s reserves (b) KXARIRAEESH

Share Other  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R 48 B Hit e 2itEE At
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD 000
FHET THET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2018 #2018F4A1H 68,632 34,986 (16,330) 87,288
Loss for the year FNER - - (973) (973)
Final dividend paid B RERE (4,800) = = (4,800)
At 31 March 2019 20193 A31H 63,832 34,986 (17,303) 81,515
Loss for the year FNEAR - - (1,280) (1,280)
Final dividend paid BN RERE (6,200) - - (6,200)
At 31 March 2020 20203 A31H 57,632 34,986 (18,583) 74,035
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31. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF

DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments
The remuneration of each director and chief
executive of the Company for the year ended

1. EER/ARESR
(a) EERBEETHAEME

RE E2020%F R2019F3A31TB FFE - &
BEEZRARARSITHRABSNEEHY 0

31 March 2020 and 2019 are set out below: T
Employer’s
contribution
Discretionary to pension
Name of directors Note Fees Salaries bonus scheme Total
EERHK S
B8R Mz ik s MERA BH &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FAET FET FAET FAT
Year ended 31 March 2020 B E202063A31H
EEE
Chairman and chief executive officer £ ERTHEH,
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen TFEE 240 1,980 463 18 2,701
Executive Directors WIER
Mr. Wong Kin Kei FRELE 240 1,560 375 18 2,193
Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie EE10y o 240 1,380 338 18 1,076
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo REEEL il - 1,248 165 11 1,424
Non-executive Director FRTES
Mr. Cheung Ting Pong REALAE (i) 133 - - - 133
Independent non-executive Directors BV JEHITES
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis REXEE (i) 43 - - - 43
Mr. Chan Chi Kwong Dickson RS EE (iv) 43 - - - 43
Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny YL 240 - - - 240
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew BRELLE (V) 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wu Kam On Keith Bkt v 201 - - - 201
1,560 6,168 1,341 65 9,134
Year ended 31 March 2019 HZ2201953831H
LEE
Chairman and chief executive officer ~ T ERITHEH
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen TtrLse 240 1,980 463 18 2,701
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Wong Kin Kei BERELYE 240 1,560 375 18 2,193
Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie gefhnt 240 1380 338 18 1,976
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Cheung Ting Pong RERLE 240 109 - 3 352
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew EBELLE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Pang Chung Fai Benny YHELE 240 - - S 240
Mr. Wu Kam On Keith i g it 240 - - - 240
1,680 5,029 1,176 57 7,942
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo was appointed on 11 March
2020.

(if) Mr. Cheung Ting Pong resigned on 22 October 2019.

(i) ~ Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis was appointed on
21 January 2020.

(iv)  Mr. Chan Chi Kwong Dickson was appointed on
21 January 2020.

(v) Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew resigned on 1 January
2020.

(vi)  Mr. Wu Kam On Keith resigned on 2 February 2020.

The executive Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive Directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as
Directors.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

Save as disclosed in Note 31(a), no retirement
benefits and termination benefits paid to the
Directors during both years.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Company did not provide any consideration
to any third party for making available directors’
services during both years.

1. EER/ARESR #)

(a)

(b)

(c)

EERBETHAEME (&)
et -

() REEELN2020F3A11BEZT-

iy FREFEAEN2019F10722H BH{E-

(i)  RENSCER2020F1A21BEEZ T

(iv) FREYEAN2020F1F21BERT-

(v) SBEEEE LA HA2020F1 B1H BT -

(vi) EBERE L AER2020F2A2H BT -

EXHATRATESTRITRAHNFTHEE
RREREERNRA LA B ZHAAIREM
R zHM e EXTRBILIIFERTESH
FHNEIERESAECESTAREERSEH
o

AEBERMFARMBERNES I HM - (F
AR AE DDA A0 A AR S5 B B B8 B S A5
e RBERmE-

MEABRBEFTHTRARNEXREN
BEMME 2Lk

EERNBARRLEF

FRETES1() T EEIN RRFR - HIEX
N FEEERRAKERNRE IR -

RERRESRBERAE=STRHENK
&

MER ARABERAEREEFTRFER
EAE=TR‘EEMNKE-

HEEERQE 20206FHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR M

31. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF 1. EEEANERER #2)

DIRECTORS (Continued)

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans (d BEUNEE ZEEERFNLIERE
and other dealings in favour of directors, EERATRANER BLUEREK
controlled bodies corporate by and HWXEZHWER
connected entities with such directors
There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in WEN BENES XESEFHNEER
favour of Directors, controlled bodies corporate by AEEREAYE ANTERER - BEUER
and connected entities with such directors during FEMR S -
both years.

(e) Directors’ material interests in (e) EENXRE ZTHRENPWEKRE
transactions, arrangements or contracts =
No significant transactions, arrangements and RERIMFEANEMMER XRAEAF
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to FEMERASEERBEENEARS K
which the Company was a party and in which a ELReERMESREFRFZEEELIHEED
Director had a material interest, whether directly or EDN: ok

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or at any
time during both years.

32. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 2. BHEREREH
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) E%EELEZRE
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash BRRAaFHEEEA RS FEAGHK

generated from operations

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
B e FET FET
Profit before income tax B 74 Al g 28,062 37,394
Adjustments for: PR
Depreciation on property, plant WE BELMRBEZTE
and equipment 7 1,112 891
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (FRAEEEZIE 7 2,564 =
Amortisation of intangible assets mE 7 208 2,487
Fair value changes of financial asset E QAR BEFFAEBZZ
at FVPL TREENAAER 737 -
Impairment losses on financial assets & g4 &5 18 3,591 3,326
Finance (income)/cost — net B (A AN —F58 8 (43) 316
Operating profit before working LEEEHAI 2 KLE RN
capital changes: 36,231 44,414
Trade and retention receivables 5 RIRE € WK 43,678 (48,684)
Deposits, other receivables 2% HAth U RIBH K
and prepayments 378 1,566
Contract assets BHEE (18,370) (55,630)
Trade payables =) ANE-N (1,181) 106,409
Accruals and other payables FE AT B E At FE A 3R 431 (9,863)
Contract liabilities BHARE (13,056) 13,561
Cash generated from operations BEEA RS 48,111 51,773
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

32. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of financing activities
An analysis and the movements of financial liabilities
from financial activities during the year ended
31 March 2020 and 2019 as set out below:

2. RERERER (&)
(b) METE Z2FEHR
DT E B & RN E E20204F k201943
ABIBILEFERNZESH 2T

Lease Lease Bank
liabilities liabilities borrowings
due within due after due within
1 year 1 year 1 year Total
R1E A M1E# R1EA
gl - Nz Iz
HEARE HEBE |ITE &t
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
F#ET F#ET FET FET
At 1 April 2018 7R2018F4H18 - - - -
Cash flows RenE - - (12,800) (12,800)
At 31 March 2019 and M2019%43HA31H &
1 April 2019 2019F4H1H - - (12,800) (12,800)
Recognised on adoption HAEEMEHRE
of HKFRS 16 (Note 3(a)) R E 165 8
R (M it3(a)) (2,295) (4,870) - (7,165)
At 1 April 2019, as restated 20194451 H
KE (2,295) (4,870) (12,800) (19,965)
Cash flows RENE 2,761 - 12,800 15,561
Additions NE = (305) - (305)
Other non-cash movements  H {h FE38 & & &) (2,730) 2,412 = (318)
Exchange differences P N =% 15 18 - 33
At 31 March 2020 202043 A31H (2,249) (2,745) - (4,994)
33. COMMITMENTS 33. &IE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAREIE

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the

year but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

Acquisitions of a subsidiary (Note 35)

REREBNERERNEARNOT

WhE— BB R R (H:235)

2020
20204

HKD’000

FAET

1,275

2019
20194
HKD’000
FiET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R R MR

33. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Non-cancellable operating leases
The Group had commitments for future aggregate
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

33. &iIE (#)
(b) FAIHHLLEHEE
REEHTTHRECEHAETHARRIE
MEREAENT

2020 2019

20204 2019%F

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

No later than 1 year 1ELLT - 3,271
Later than 1 year and no later than 1F LA EBTEBSF

5 years - 2,302

- 5,573

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group leases
an office and equipment which are non-cancellable
with lease terms ranged from 1 and 5 years. The
lease expenses charged to the consolidated profit or
loss and comprehensive income during the year are
disclosed in Note 7.

From 1 April 2019, the Group has recognised
right-of-use assets for these leases, see Note 3(a)
for details.

34. THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC’S IMPACT

An outbreak of respiratory illness caused by the COVID-19
has been expanded across the PRC and globally and the
prevention and control measures to combat the disease
have been continued to be implemented nationwide. So
far, the Group has fully resumed to work and the operation
is normal. As the COVID-19 continues, there is impact on
the Group to a certain extent. The Directors will continue
to closely monitor the development of the COVID-19
outbreak and assess its impact on the financial position,
and operational results of the Group. Given the dynamic
nature of the outbreak and the major operation of the
Group is in Hong Kong, the Directors estimate the impact
on the Group’s operation and financial is likely immaterial
as at the date of this annual report.

158 SANBASE CORPORATION LMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

REZE201943A31BLFEE A4S EHEE
T BT BBEARAE RRE B A
E5F - FRLGAETREMEAEKZERS
MR ER TR FE7HEE -

W2019F4 A1 MM AEEKILLEHEE
BRSEREEE  FRFLHMES@E -

M. EBMAREZEE

H20190 R M SR BT RELRFRIBEE
FEEEREBENRELS D ZEROBIEE
HMEE2EERRNEEER-ZBAIAL A&
BE2EEIRETEE -FEE2019THKESH
WEE AEEE TREELIIFE-EEH
BETYER2010E MRS RRBHEE LT
HEHAEEMBRARECEEENTE-ER
HIENBREEERAEENETEZEENVURES
RAFRAY EBFETHAEBRZEERMHK
VR TR NE K -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A YRR

35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 35. R EHERER

PERIOD

On 14 February 2020, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an agreement to purchase the
entire equity interest of Yu Rong, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong, from certain independent third parties. The
total cash consideration is approximately HK$2,550,000,
of which HK$1,275,000 was paid before the year ended
31 March 2020 (Note 20). The remaining HK$1,275,000 is
payable upon the completion of the acquisition on 1 June
2020 (Note 33(a)). Immediately after the completion
of the acquisition, Yu Rong has become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial
results will be consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. For details, please refer the
announcement of the Company dated 14 February 2020
and 1 June 2020 respectively.

MR2020F2 148 - A AR EENB R A E] L
WE RMETEYE=ZFBEE2L(—HRARE
BHMKIOAR)NEHRE-RESEEDNA
2,550,000/ » 71,275,000 T E R E =
2020F3A31HIEFE 2 AT (MF5E20) - T
71,275,000/ 7T 78 72202046 A 1 B Uk 8 58 A% B
AT (MY5E33(a)) - WHE K& - BRI BK A
AARNEE2ENBLAR HMBEERBEH
BARRRMGEENBBERF -FIBEBLHEELRA
B Ei D Bl A2020%F2 4148 fM2020F6 A1 HHI A

%:o
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TFFEBERE

Results

Revenue

Profit before income tax

Income tax expenses

Profit attributable to the owners of
the Company for the year

Total comprehensive income
attributable to the owners of
the Company for the year

Assets and Liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

YA

B 75 /1 34 )

PTG B3 X
FAXRRAEEA
& A& 3t 7
FARRAEAA
J&Ah 2 [ W a5 4B B8

BEMR
BERER

BEFH

Equity attributable to the owners of FRARFHEH A

the Company for the year

FE15 S
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HEE
Year ended 31 March
BZE3H3IBLEEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20175 20164
HKD’000 HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FE T FET FET FET FET
638,030 650,455 376,208 280,670 231,124
28,062 37,394 11,462 28,298 22,280
(6,321) (7,076) (4,551) (4,798) (3,676)
16,224 28,116 6,911 24,100 18,604
16,133 28,070 6,911 24,100 18,604
EEREE
As at 31 March
M3H31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174 20164
HKD’000 HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FE T FET FET FET FET
370,858 382,088 191,595 103,698 86,715
218,653 245,284 79,750 68,549 54,656
152,205 136,804 111,845 35,149 32,059
141,791 131,858 111,845 35,149 32,059
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